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DEfiNiTiON
 
Annual Report 2018, comprises of the Annual Report of Housing Development 
Finance Corporation Plc. (HDFC) prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act of the Republic of Maldives (10/96), Listing rules of Maldives Stock 
Exchange, the Securities Act of Maldives Security Depository and Corporate 
Governance Code of Capital Market Development Authority Requirements. 
Unless otherwise specified in the Annual Report, the terms ‘HDFC’, ‘we’, ‘us’ and ‘it’ 
refer to Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc. The word ‘Company’ refers to 
HDFC Plc., including financing facilities extended from the Amna (Islamic Window).

References to the year in this report are, unless otherwise indicated, 
references to the Company’s financial year ending 31st December 2018. 

Financial statements of HDFC is prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
 
Cautionary statement with regard to forward looking statements
 
HDFC’s Annual Report comprises of forward-looking statements that are based on 
current expectations or views, as well as expectations about future events. These 
forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate 
only to historical or current facts. Forward looking statements frequently use words 
such as ‘anticipate’, ‘target’, ‘expect’, ‘would’, ‘could’, estimate’, ‘intend’, ‘plan’, ‘goal’, 
‘believe’, ‘will’, ‘may’, ‘should’ or other words of similar meaning. Undue reliance 
should not be placed on any such statements because, by their very nature, they 
are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties and can be affected by 
other factors that could cause actual results, and HDFC plans and objectives to 
differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.

There are several factors which could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those expressed or implied in forward looking statements. Among the 
factors are changes in the global, economic, political, business, competitive, 
market and regulatory forces, future exchange and interest rates, changes 
in tax rates and future business combinations or dispositions. HDFC cannot 

guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or successes. 
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I present the 15th Annual 

Report and financial statements of Housing Development Finance 

Corporation Plc. (HDFC) for the year ended December 31, 2018.

HDFC has once again delivered a good performance under all parameters 

and has positioned itself amongst the top players in the sector. The Company 

has been delivering, what it had promised at the time of establishment. 

This is possible because HDFC is built on strong fundamentals, driven 

by determination and held together by strong values and ethics. Our 

growth is steady, inclusive and an outcome of concentrated efforts by our 

team members to achieve a larger purpose - that of creating a healthy 

ecosystem for the mortgage industry such that it benefits society at large.

The driving force behind this journey has been the single-minded mission 

of bringing people and processes together and driven by operational 

excellence in the delivery model for our customers and stakeholders. We 

are one of the significant contributors in facilitating home ownership in the 

Maldives by helping customers fulfill their dream of owning a home. It is 

indeed our humble endeavour towards accumulation of the nation’s wealth. 

2018 has been a year of unexpected challenges, not only in the Maldives, 

Chairman’s

STATEMENT

“Empowering
      Communities”
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but globally as well, with an overall 

economic slowdown. However, it pleases 

me to report that HDFC has demonstrated 

prudence in ensuring that the Company 

continues to perform consistently.

WOrLD aT a 

GLanCE

According to a World Bank Report 

(“Global Economic Prospects (2018)”), 

global growth is expected to slow down 

over the next two years after reaching 

3.1 percent in 2018. Emerging markets 

and developing economies (EMDEs) 

are expected to plateau, reaching 4.7 

percent in 2019 and 2020, up from 4.5 

percent in 2018. Several EMDEs policy 

makers are recognising the benefits of 

03

boosting potential growth by promoting 

competitiveness, adapting to technological 

changes and encouraging trade openness.

ThE maLDiVian 

ECOnOmY

The Maldivian economy grew by 7% in 

2018 and is projected to continue to 

grow at the same pace in 2019 as well.

Most of the economic developments in 

the Maldives are driven by the tourism 

and construction sectors, which showed 

resilient growth in 2018.  Growth in tourist 

arrivals reached its highest since 2014.  

The robust growth was in part due to the 

upgradation of the Velana International 

Airport, which now has the capacity to land 

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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large aircrafts.  This enabled the Maldives 

Airports Company Limited (MACL) to 

secure new contracts with airlines and 

increase the number of tourist arrivals.

The government has plans to undertake 

various initiatives that will both enhance 

and diversify its revenues in 2019. The 

government is promoting the nation as an 

attractive location for investment into various 

economic activities.  Initiatives include the 

promotion by the Ministry of Tourism for 

Maldives as a unique tourist attraction and 

expansion of infrastructure. The government 

support and promotion of the Economic 

Zone will also provide for economic growth 

at all levels. These initiatives are expected 

to play a positive role in enhancing local 

development, while strengthening the 

economy and business in the Maldives.

 

The estimated budget of the government 

for housing is MVR 1,609 million for 2019. 

This includes around MVR 321 million for the 

construction of housing units in L. Gan, Lh. 

Naifaru, B. Thulahadhoo, M. Kolhufushi.  The 

government also projected MVR 102 million 

to provide housing for Police and Defence 

personnel. (Moft, Budget Speech, 2019).  

OUr

PErFOrmanCE

The aspiration of ‘Owning a Home’ is a 

cherished dream for most Maldivians. Over 

the past 15 years, we at HDFC have been at 

the forefront of enabling homeownership 

of the lower- and middle-income citizens 

of the country. We are securing our 

customer’s future by actively addressing 

their financial needs through our diversified 

product offerings, while creating financial 

awareness. With an ever-expanding focus 

on financial inclusion and building a 

stronger ecosystem, we are reinforcing our 

commitment towards transforming the lives 

of the common man.  Led by an in-depth 

understanding of our customer’s housing 

needs combined with our time-tested expertise 

in this space, we are proud of ‘Providing a 

Home’, which resonates with the government’s 

national mission of ‘Housing for All by 2022’.  
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The society at large 

becomes more harmonious 

and developments more 

holistic, as the population 

of homeowners increase in 

the country. We believe we 

are supporting the nation 

towards the next phase 

of inclusive progress.

 

The financial year 2018 has become a 

landmark year in the journey of HDFC, with 

the public listing of the second bond issue 

on the Maldives Stock Exchange. Our second 

bond offer of MVR 100 million turned out 

to be one of the most awaited investment 

opportunities for the local investors, who 

gave an overwhelming response to the issue.

 

The Company’s total operating income 

increased by 24.6% to MVR 116.3 million. 

Due to the vigilant management, the 

ratio of non-performing loans remained 

stable at 1.5% as at 31 December 2018. The 

return on shareholders’ equity stood at 

19.1%, while operating expenses increased 

by 16.8% over the previous year. The 

Company’s total assets grew by 10.2% over 

the previous year to MVR 1.7 billion.  Total 

loans and advances grew by 14.6% over the 

previous year to stand at MVR 1.6 billion.
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During the year under review, 

we continued to strengthen 

our capabilities to support 

business growth. This involved 

a renewed focus to closer align 

people, products, processes 

and systems across the 

organization. We enhanced our 

human capital and information 

technology infrastructure.  We 

also strengthened our corporate 

governance framework to ensure 

on-going compliance in an 

evolving regulatory environment. 

We intensified our focus on 

a prudent risk management 

approach to ensure that the 

Company remains systematic 

and resilient in the face of volatile 

economic and market conditions.

COnCLUsiOn

As we begin another challenging year, we are delighted to celebrate the 15th anniversary of 

the foundation of HDFC in 2004.  This has been a journey of consistent profitable growth, 

from an initial share capital of just MVR 1 million to a net worth of MVR 515.8 million as 

at 31 December 2018. We believe that the combination of HDFC’s focused strategy and 

diversified business model will continue to create long-term value for our stakeholders.

We will continue to leverage our expertise in the local housing 

market to develop unconventional and effective strategies to sustain 

growth and create long-term value for all stakeholders.

 

Finally, I would like to thank our shareholders and Board of Directors for their continued 

support and invaluable guidance. I also wish to extend gratitude and appreciation to the 

Maldives Monetary Authority, Ministry of Finance, and other regulatory bodies for their 

support. I also thank our customers who have reposed their faith in us both as borrowers 

and lenders. Lastly, I deeply appreciate the dedication and hard work of each and every 

employee of HDFC who have worked together to contribute to the success of the company.

 

 

 

Conrad D’Souza

Chairman, HDFC- Maldives
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nEW rEGULaTOrY 

ChanGEs

During the year under review, we saw a major regulatory 

change with the introduction of IFRS 9. This new financial 

reporting standard is aimed at enhancing stability across 

the financial system. IFRS 9 changes the way credit 

losses are recognised in the profit and loss statement of 

institutions. While in the past, impairments were based 

on incurred losses, IFRS 9, introduces an approach based 

on future expectations, namely expected losses.  As part 

of impairment provisioning under IFRS 9, companies 

have to identify relevant macroeconomic variables for 

their businesses, study them for historical trends and 

impact, establish their relationship with historical default 

rates and track them for available forecasts in order to 

estimate expected credit losses. This accounting standard 

has been followed with effect from 1 January 2018.

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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Growth is one of the realistic benchmarks 

of success. Housing Development Finance 

Corporation has indeed travelled far in its 

journey from its relatively modest beginning 

in 2004, as an institution to serve the nation 

in providing housing solutions to those in 

need. Through our journey of 15 years, our 

singular focus on one product- housing, 

steadfast approach, strong business values 

and financial discipline have helped us 

become a household name. We focused on 

our reputation to strengthen our presence, 

while being innovative and customer centric 

in our financial solutions. Our strategy to 

achieve this will be to increase our efficiency, 

analyse financial markets, and customer 

needs in-depth, develop appropriate 

solutions, leverage cutting-edge technology 

and empower our employees. The one 

promise that we make to ourselves and our 

stakeholders every day is to drive growth.

 

ThE hOUsinG 

inDUsTrY
 

The industry struggled throughout the year 

with high lending rates and relatively high 

housing prices preventing low- and middle-

income households from affording a house.

 

Having perceived a rise in income levels and 

lifestyle changes for the better, the private 

sector is now a major housing provider 

for middle- and high-income groups, 

while the Government remains involved 

in facilitating housing for low and lower 

middle-income groups. The Government, 

through the Ministry of Housing did establish 

several housing development programmes 

including “Gedhoruveri kurun”, “Baiy bil 

Tag sit “and “704” which contributed more 

than 1155 housing units to the market.

 

 manaGinG DirECTOr’s

REVIEW
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In late November last year (2018) the 

government launched the single largest 

social housing project in Hulhumale’, the 

“Hiyaa Project”. This project will produce 

7000 social housing units in Phase II of 

Hulhumale. The project is part of the 

larger program by HDC to establish 

15,000 social housing units in Hulhumale’ 

This is in addition to the hundreds of 

semi luxury and luxury units awarded to 

more than a dozen private companies.   

 

The lack of a comprehensive market study 

remains a major concern to all developers 

and financiers while the government 

inaugurated hundreds of social housing 

projects could flood the greater Male’ 

region. This is evidenced by several private 

developers struggling to secure the sale 

of all their units as the overpriced high-

end flats makes more unaffordable to the 

people who are in dire need of housing. In 

the near future and the current real estate 

trend suggests a possible lack of appropriate 

safety measure could stress the present 

vulnerable economy of the country.

TrUE VaLUE 

OF hOUsinG 

FinanCE

Housing finance cannot be equated to 

any other credit facility. It is an asset class, 

supported by long term house mortgages 

that produce long term returns. It is a 

tangible asset creator and wealth maximiser. 

Housing finance is an integral part of 

economic development as it increases 

savings, investments and household wealth 

and results in a beneficial spill-over effect 

07Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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on the entire financial system. Each Rufiyaa 

invested in the housing sector triggers 

a multiplier increase in other sectors 

of the economy and indirectly impacts 

employment, fiscal returns and consumption.

 

sUsTainaBLE 

LiVinG 

EnVirOnmEnT

The process of house construction requires 

a large amount of capital, natural resources, 

earthmoving and management of substantial 

amount of solid waste. Homes are not just 

houses; but environments which project 

aspirations of individual families. A cluster 

of homes form neighbourhoods and a 

group of neighbourhood’s form towns and 

cities. Thus, the manner in which houses 

are planned, and developed has an impact 

on the environment and ecosystem of the 

country.  Affordability also plays a vital 

role in building a home. If the house is 

not cost effective, it would not offer cost 

saving technologies and will not suit the 

modern-day lifestyles of its occupants.

 

ChaLLEnGEs 

ahEaD

One of the biggest challenges faced by 

HDFC is managing the interest rate risk. 

Being a long-term lender, HDFC is open to 

the interest rate risk when long-term loans 

and facilities are not matched with long 

term funds. Due to the lack of a long-term 

money market, a shortage in long term funds 

exists. Even though we have succeeded in 

reducing the maturity gaps to some extent, 

additional measures have to be taken to 

increase our future profitability. In this 

context, we strive to achieve a sustainable 

growth by accessing long term funding 

lines to match the planned growth in loans 

and facilities. Another challenge for HDFC 

is the absence of a comprehensive ERP 

system. With IT being the conduit that fuels 

success in any field, the absence of such 

a system is too risky for the organisation. 

Hence, to empower our people to meet 

the goals of the company’s business plan, 

we need an accelerated but strategic 

infusion of a proper banking solution for the 

growth of the company.  Presently, a gap 

analysis is undertaken by a foreign party 

to seek the best solution to the company.
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mOVinG 

FOrWarD

Over the last 15 years, HDFC has 

made a significant contribution to the 

economy of our nation as a housing 

finance company. HDFC has provided 

affordable housing financing solutions 

to the multitude of people and gained 

wide acceptance from the low- and 

middle-income segment of our society.

 

It was clear that despite the challenging 

business environment of 2017, the Company 

was able to make significant progress 

towards its key stated goals.  We expected 

2018 to be equally if not more challenging 

with the introduction of IFRS 9. We 

continue to remain optimistic however 

with a sustained investment in our staff, 

and most of all customer satisfaction.

Refocusing HDFC as an institution 

providing a speedy service, whilst balancing 

economic, social and environmental 

objectives and working actively alongside 

the government’s initiatives in achieving 

the development goals laid out.

a nOTE OF GraTiTUDE

I wish to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation to the Chairman and the Board of 

Directors for displaying immense confidence in me in allowing me to steer the company in 

line with the goals we had set out for the year and the support and guidance extended at all 

times to ensure that we remain on that path. To my “Team” who have remained at my side 

to be true partners in this progressive but challenging journey we have embarked on, thank 

you very much. Our loyal customers have been a source of strength and we hope will remain 

so in the years to come.  May Allah grant everyone the best in this Life and the Hereafter.

  

Raheema Saleem

Managing Director

09Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc. 

HDFC is a company incorporated as state owned enterprise on

28 January 2004 by a Presidential Decree under the Companies 

Act No.10/96, registered as a public company on 9 February 2006 

and privatized on 23 July 2008 with the signing of a shareholder’s 

agreement between the Government of Maldives (49%), IFC 

(18%), ADB (18%) and HDFC-Investments Ltd.- India (15%).

 

C-107/2006

MVR 159,375,000

  

Mr. Conrad D’Souza

Ms. Raheema Saleem

PricewaterhouseCoopers (External Auditors) 

KPMG (Internal Auditors)

Mazlan & Murad Law Associates

Mr. Adam Athif

 

Mialani, 4th Floor, Sosun Magu, 

Male’, Republic of Maldives

(+960) 3338810 / 3315896 / 3315897 / 3334666

(+960) 3315138

www.hdfc.com.mv

info@hdfc.com.mv

Name oF THe 

ComPaNy 

LegaL Form 

ComPaNy 

regisTraTioN  

Number

sHare CaPiTaL

CHairmaN

maNagiNg DireCTor

auDiTors

LegaL CouNseL

ComPaNy seCreTary

regisTereD aDDress

PHoNe:

Fax:

WebsiTe:

emaiL:

COrPOraTE

iNFormaTioN
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OUr VisiOn

“Our vision is to provide decent housing to all segments of the society to pioneer innovative, 

responsible home finance solutions to realize their financial aspirations towards home 

ownership, and to become the market leader and add value to all our stakeholders.”

  

OUr missiOn

Our mission is to inspire better living in our communities to accelerate home 

ownership by providing a selection of home financing solutions with highest 

quality, manage investment products professionally and profitably, and educate 

financial literacy by delivering customer service with a sense of warmth, individual 

pride and company spirit to the complete satisfaction of all stakeholders.

our vision is our foundation. our values are our 
strengths and we raise not just hopes, but the 
promise to bring in a happier tomorrow.

• Provide a solution to every single customer.

• Process loan applications to the highest professional 
standard to give a speedy and effective service.

• Manage all aspects of customer relationship 
with due care, communication and sensitivity 
to ensure 100% loan performance.

• Conduct all affairs as a responsible corporate citizen with 
good governance, accountability and transparency.

Strive hard and explore 

all avenues to:

PLEDGE

11Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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HDFC offers both Conventional and Islamic housing finance facilities 

with affordability, flexibility and longest repayment period . 

sTanDarD LOan
Standard Home Loan is below MVR 1 million with less than one 

third of the developed area given on rent and two third or more 

occupied by owner/s and co-owner/s at 11.25% per annum.

miLLiOn PLUs
Home loans exceeding MVR 1 million with less than one third of 

the developed area given on rent and two third or more occupied 

by owner/s and or co-applicant/s at 11.50% per annum.

rEnT OPTiOn hOmE  LOan
Home Loan where the total developed area or more than one third 

area of the property is intended for, or already rented out, 

at 12.50% per annum.

rEnOVaTiOn hOmE LOan
Home loan for essential repairs, refurbishments, and 

improvement to the home at 11.25% per annum.

YOUTh PrODUCT
Home purchase loan for Youth 
at 10.5% per annum for 30 years.

isTisna’ hOmE COnsTrUCTiOn
Islamic Finance Product given by HDFC Amna under Istisna’ 

concept for financing of home construction.

mUsharaKa mUThanaQisa
Islamic finance product given by HDFC where the customer and the financial 

institution agree to enter into a partnership agreement to purchase land and 

construct a house or purchase a housing unit / apartment for the purpose of 

residential / rental to be occupied by the owners / co-owners / tenants.

mUraBaha FinanCinG FaCiLiTY
Islamic finance product given by HDFC  where HDFC and the customer 

enter into a contract for the sale of goods required to renovate the 

housing. The contract involves the purchase of goods identified by the 

client and then sells them to the customer at an agreed mark up.

HDfC PRODUCTS
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2018

2016

2014

2012

2010

2008

2006

2004

2017

2015

2013

2011

2009

2007

2005

Issued Fixed 
Income Bond: 2

100% locals

Reward Customers 
with a rate cut

 Issued with first 
rated income Bond

Introduction of End 
User Finance

Received the first 
foreign borrowings

Investment in MMA 
Treasury Bills

Transformation 
of HDFC to a 

public company.

AMNA achieved GOLD 
Award for the Islamic Finance 
Turnaround of the year.

Start of “Gedhoruveri 
Kurumuge Program”

Inaugurated the Islamic 
Window, AMNA.

Launched the First 
Housing Finance Products.

Privatized HDFC with 
Joint Foreign Investment

Registered as a PLC

Incorporated as 
an 100% SOE

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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“A man’s home 
is his castle”, a source of pride

and joy with the feeling of 
closeness, peace and most 

importantly, family.”

14
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 DirECTOrs’

report

The directors have the privilege of presenting their 

15th Annual Report of HDFC PLC. (the “Company or 

HDFC”), together with the audited accounts of the 

Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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COrPOraTE 

OBJECTiVE anD 

inCOrPOraTiOn

HDFC was incorporated by the Government of 

Maldives with the primary objective of providing 

housing finance and the scope of operation 

enacted under the Company Law (1996). The 

Corporation was originally established as a state-

owned-enterprise in 2004, and converted as a 

public company in 2006, and privatised on 23 

July 2008 with the signing of the shareholders 

agreement between the Government of Maldives 

(GOM 49%) and three new shareholders; Asian 

Development Bank (ADB 18%), International 

Finance Corporation (IFC 18%) and HDFC 

Investments Limited (HDFC India 15%).

 

In February 2009, the Company restructured its 

capital and with new lines of long-term credit from 

ADB and IFC, it re-entered the market for mortgage 

loans to cater to housing needs of individuals and 

families. HDFC is uniquely positioned within the 

Maldives financial sector as the only specialised 

housing finance institution in the country.

 

HDFC has achieved a steady growth in assets, 

shareholders’ funds and profitability while sustaining 

internal processes, capacities and strength. It 

has gained wide recognition from the public as a 

leading player in housing finance, particularly in the 

low- and middle-income market, and as an award-

winning responsible corporation. HDFC completed 

its 15th year in service on 28 January 2019. 
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PErFOrmanCE OF OPEraTiOn

HDFC posted a (Profit Before Tax) of MVR 116.3million in 2018, representing a 25% 

increase from (Profit Before Tax) of MVR 93.3million in 2017. Earnings per share for 

2018 was MVR 62.11, compared to MVR 50.94 in 2017. The Company’s improving 

profitability in 2018 resulted in an increase in ROE to 19% from 18% in 2017.

financial Highlights in millions (MVR)

(MVR Millions)     

Performance 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Total Income 122.6 131.6 151.8 169.8 190.2

Profit Before Tax 64.6 71.5 85.7 93.3 116.3

Profit After Tax 54.9 60.5 72.3 81.2 98.9

Total Equity 383.1 403.8 416.4 462.5 515.8

Net Portfolio (Loans/facilities) 941.5 1,086.5 1,303.0 1,410.5 1,617.4

financial Ratios          

Net Assets value per Share 239.4 252.4 260.3 290.2 323.6

Earnings Per Share (EPS) 34.4 38.0 45.4 50.9 62.1

Dividend Per Share 25 17.5 20 22 25

Liquidity (%) (Equity/Total Assets) 40% 37% 35% 29% 29%

Dividend pay-out (%) 73% 46% 44% 43% 40%

ROE (%) 14% 15% 17% 18% 19%

Debt/Equity (times) 1.9 2.1 2.3 2.4 2.4

Interest Cover (times) 1.5 1.6 2.0 2.0 2.1

PErFOrmanCE aT a GLanCE
 

PrOFiT GrOWTh
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maLDiVEs 

ECOnOmiC 

PErFOrmanCE

During the latter quarter of 2018 we 

witnessed a changing of the guard with 

continued challenges for the newly elected 

president, Hon. Ibrahim Mohamed Solih, 

who took his oath as the seventh president 

of the Maldives on 17 November 2018.

The Republic of Maldives, a nation with 

a population of about 400,000 people 

is spread over 188 islands. Its economy is 

highly dependent on tourism and fisheries, 

burdened with a high fiscal deficit, public 

debt, and high youth unemployment.

As per the Maldives Monetary Authority’s 

latest Quarterly Economic Bulletin (Sep 

2018) the average inflation marked a 

turnaround and stood at 0.4% in Q3 2018, 

after recording a negative inflation rate of 

-1.5% in Q2 2018. The acceleration in prices 

was mainly because of increase in rent and 

rise in the prices of vegetables and tobacco. 

However, the growth in prices was mainly 

offset by a reduction in the prices of staple 

food items and electricity during the period.

The performance of the Construction 

industry continued to be robust during 

Q3 2018, mostly owing to the increase 

in loans for construction of residential, 

real estate developments and resort 

construction. Imports related to this 

sector posted a significant growth of 

39% in annual terms during the quarter. 

The continued resilience of this sector 

is largely attributed to the various 

infrastructure projects that are under way.

 

According to Global Economic Prospects 

(January 2019), the Maldives economic 

activity will be underpinned by strong 

infrastructure investments and consumption. 

The Maldives remain strong and reliant on 

construction and tourism and economic 

growth is expected to moderate to 6.3 

percent in 2019 as construction activity 

returns to long-term averages and capital 

investment projects gradually slow down.
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The Maldives faces important challenges 

that are common to small island states 

including small, slim, and delicate resource 

base, high youth and female unemployment, 

a shortage of skilled manpower and 

capacity constraints, difficult inter-island 

transport and communication, high cost 

of social and economic infrastructure 

provision, heavy dependence on external 

trade, and vulnerability to external shocks, 

climate change and natural disasters.

rEsPOnsiBLE 

hOUsinG 

FinanCE 

Decent housing is a basic human necessity. 

Housing improves the quality of life and 

economic growth of a nation by several 

degrees. Owning a house is the largest 

investment of an average income family. 

It is also the only lifetime saving for many. 

Because of ever increasing construction 

costs and land prices, owning a house 

has become a dream which most families 

struggle to realise. HDFC’s core business 

and statutory objective is to assist people 

in financing housing and other necessities 

related to it, and hence expanding home-

ownership in the country. As per the income 

distribution, around 60-65% of the Maldivian 

population is in the low- and middle-income 

households’ segment, and that segment 

faces the challenge of realising the dream 

of house ownership. HDFC is strategically 

as well as obligatorily focused to manage 

its core business in a manner which delivers 

long-term value creation, in the economic, 

environmental, and social front, the largest 

segment of the population, thereby seizing 

economic opportunities that ensure the 

Company’s continued growth and stability 

while maximising shareholders’ wealth.

hOUsinG marKET

CUrrEnT 

DEmanD FOr 

mOrTGaGE 

FinanCE

The housing demand of the Maldivian 

population (estimated 400,000) 

nationwide, is currently offset by the 

existing housing units of 75,000. According 

to Census 2014, average household 

size in Male’ is 5.4 and Atolls is 5.1 and 

5.2 person living per household.

 

Housing is a special consumer good and 

an important part of the financial markets. 

It is the largest component of the typical 

household asset portfolio and often the 

largest single category of household 

expense. It is a key component in creating 

HDFC’s core 

business and 

statutory objective 

is to assist people 

in financing 
housing and other 

necessities related 

to it, and hence 

expanding home-

ownership in the 

country
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stable and healthy communities, and a 

very visible indicator of social welfare. 

Housing Finance remains a problem for 

many households in emerging markets 

such as Maldives often reflecting the 

lack of an appropriate infrastructure and 

preconditions for lending. In particular, the 

provision of funds to lower- and middle-

income households is limited. Many-lower- 

and middle-income households may not 

be able to afford housing at market rates 

of interest and house prices, and individual 

incomes may not be stable or documented, 

or past credit records may be poor.

 

Housing finance is currently provided mainly 

by leading commercial banks. Today, these 

institutions account for about 60 % of the 

market. The current market generally serves 

upper- and middle-income borrowers 

and the lower income market through 

government at a subsidized rate. There is 

a need for private sector to provide more 

mortgage financing and specifically target 

the under-served market customers.

The national housing shortage is estimated 

at 15,000 units and an annual increase 

in household needs is estimated at up 

to 500 units each year. With respect to 

mortgage loan characteristics and tenor, 

the average tenor of mortgage loans varies 

between 10-20 years with a maximum 

of 30 years in special products such 

as Youth Product. The maximum loan 

size is dependent upon the individual’s 

repayment capacity and is subjected to a 

maximum allowable deduction stipulated 

by the underwriting credit guidelines 

(currently 45% of the gross income).

 

Potential mortgage borrowers are evaluated 

on income, employment status, existing 

financial commitments and liabilities, credit 

history, age of borrower, value of house and/

or property to be purchased, borrower’s 

contribution towards the project, current 

assets owned, and formal documents.

 

To boost effective demand for homes 

to match actual national housing needs, 

housing finance availability is essential.

PErFOrmanCE OVErViEW

The operating environment during 2018 was somewhat challenging for a 

company like HDFC in a scenario of rising cost structure and increasing 

interest rates.  This tends to have a direct negative impact on customer 
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demand patterns as well as on cost of funding. In HDFC’s case, we heavily depend 

on the housing finance market as it is the only product we offer to our customers.  

The Company’s housing loan and facility portfolio has reached MVR 1.6 billion.

During the year, 2018 the Company approved loans and facilities amounting to MVR 363.9 

million as compared to MVR 324 in the same period of the previous year, recording a growth 

of 12.3%.  In the same year (2018), the Company disbursed loans worth MVR 315.1 million 

while in the previous year MVR 230.1 were disbursed.  This is an increase of 37%. We believe 

this growth is commendable when compared with the industry credit growth on pure 

housing as HDFC operates in a more limited market than traditional commercial banks.

inCOmE
 

During the year, the Company’s revenue from operations was MVR 190.2 million 

as compared to MVR 169.8 million in 2017, recording a growth of 12%. Out 

of the total revenue, interest income on loans was MVR 141.4 million, income 

from HDFC-Amna amounted to MVR 43.7million income from short-term 

investments was MVR 1.1million, and MVR 5 million came as fee income.

EXPEnsEs

Total operational expenses (except provisions) during the year 2018 amounted 

to MVR 18.2 million as compared to MVR 15.6 million in 2017, which is an increase 

of 16.6%. During the year the total interest expenditure recorded was MVR 46.3 

million, and Amna’s investors profit share distributed was MVR 18.6 million.

 

Growth of 

income & 

profitability
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DiViDEnD

In considering the overall performance 

of the Company, while retaining capital 

to assist future growth. The Board of 

Directors on the 29th of November 2018 

recommended a dividend of MVR 25 

per share with a pay-out ratio of 40 %.

TEChnOLOGY 

In HDFC, IT infrastructure and software 

systems are closely monitored and 

upgraded with the changes in technology 

trends and business needs as well as for 

the improvement of operational efficiency. 

We have been continuously refining our 

approach to make the most of what the 

digital medium has to offer. The key focus 

of HDFC is to introduce a core banking 

solution to HDFC to achieve the strategic 

business objectives of the Company 

whilst maintaining and enhancing the 

existing systems to support the business 

operations. During the current year, 

a gap analysis was undertaken to 

identify a suitable core banking 

solution for the Company.

 

We are keen to upgrade and improve 

our technologies to benefit from cost 

advantages presented through technology 

applications. In this respect the Company 

has taken major initiatives to improve 

employee experience, by implementing 

an HR Metrix software which manage, 

payroll, attendance, leave, and employee 

profile. Such innovative solution will 

empower employee efficiency.

 

DiGiTisED 

DOCUmEnTaTiOn 

In 2018, IT department successfully 

implemented ENADOC (Document 

Archiving System) for easy access and better 

performance. Reducing the dependence 

on physical file movement, we are now 

digitizing all loan documents and maintaining 

data on two secure servers which can 

be simultaneously viewed by multiple 

departments. This improves loan decision 

making, and greatly shortens turnaround time.

nEW PrODUCT

HDFC continues to offer new products and 

adding value to its existing products. HDFC 

has been a pioneer in introducing new 

products, and it continues to do so in keeping 

with the changing needs in the marketplace. 

HDFC maldives is 

the only specialised 

housing finance 
institution in the 

maldives with 

total assets of mVr

1.7 billion
and a housing loan 

portfolio of mVr

1.6 billion
as at 31 December 2018.
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The new product launched by HDFC in 

2018 was “Youth Product “which has the 

longest tenure and the lowest interest 

rate. It enables youth to buy their dream 

home at a lower interest rate.  10.5%, with 

a repayment period up to 30 years.

The prime focus of this product is 

to provide a favourable service to 

low- and middle-income segments 

which constitute approximately 40 

percent of the population and falls 

under the category of Youth. 

inTErnaL 

COnTrOL 

sYsTEm

HDFC has adequate system of internal 

controls for business processes, covering 

operations, financial reporting, fraud 

control, compliance with applicable laws 

and regulations. These internal controls 

and systems are devised as a part of 

the principles of good governance and 

are accordingly implemented within the 

framework of proper check and balances. 

The Company ensures that this reasonably 

effective internal control framework 

operates throughout the organisation. 

This provides assurance regarding 

safeguarding the assets, reliability of 

financial and operational information, 

compliance with applicable laws, execution 

of the transactions as per the authorisation 

and compliance with the internal policies 

of the Company. The internal audit adopts 

a risk-based audit approach and conducts 

audits of the Company. It evaluates on a 

continuous basis, (quarterly) the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the internal control 

mechanism, adherence to the policies 

and procedures of the Company as well 

as regulatory and legal requirements. 

The internal auditor place their findings 

before the Audit Committee of the Board 

of Directors at regular intervals (end of 

each quarter). The Audit Committee of 

the Board of Directors actively reviews 

the adequacy and effectiveness of 

internal control systems and suggests 

improvement for strengthening the 

control systems according to the changing 

business needs from time to time.

rECOVEriEs 

anD nOn-

PErFOrminG 

LOans

The Company’s collection philosophy 

is keeping its NPLs as the lowest in the 

market. Along with rigorous implementation 

of collection efforts and best possible 

use of legal channel, of recovery, HDFC 

has maintained the same lowest NPLs 

among the leading banks in the industry. 

Structured early warning system, regular 

reviews and prompt actions have helped 

in minimising default and maximising 

collections.  However, we experienced a 

slight increase in Non-Performing loans 

(NPLs) to 1.5% as at 31 December 2018, in 

comparison to 1.4% at the end of 2017.

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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imPairmEnT 

PrOVisiOn

The impairment provision is computed 

in compliance with IFRS 9 for the year, 

and collective impairment total provision 

reduced by MVR 2.3 million to MVR 

26.2 million as at 31 December 2018. 

During the year, the Company did not 

write off any bad loans or facilities.

BUsinEss 

rEViEW

In order to be a customer driven, best 

managed enterprise that enjoys market 

leadership in providing housing related 

finance, HDFC provides several attractive 

home loan products through a competent 

and motivated team of employees to 

maintain financial stability and growth 

of the organization while contributing 

to the national goal of providing decent 

housing for those who are in need.

HDFC Maldives is and the only specialised 

housing finance institution in the Maldives 

with total assets of MVR 1.7 billion and a 

housing loan portfolio of MVR 1.6 billion as 

at 31 December 2018. It offers a variety of 

financial products, to target the client base 

of lower- and middle-income customers. 

The lending and other financial products of 

HDFC include individual home mortgages 

portfolio performance and profitability 

are the factors that drive the company. 

HDFC generates its revenues 

through the following activities:

Financing activities: These involve 

offering various housing products including 

construction loans; purchase loans and 

renovation loans. These secured financing 

activities generate revenues from interest/

profit payments made by our borrowers, 

and loan/facility processing fees.

investment activities:  A portion of HDFC’s 

cash holding is invested in Government 

Treasury Bills, and in GIA account in Maldives 

Islamic Bank and as at 31 December  2018 

the value of such investments was MVR 

30 million. Investment activity generates 

revenues from interest payments made 

upon maturity of such investments.
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Fee-based activities: Such activities 

involve Business Referral fee for insurance 

policies, from insurance companies such 

as Amana Takaful, and Allied Insurance. In 

addition, HDFC also manage the collection 

of monthly EMI for the social housing 

programs as directed by the Government 

of Maldives. The Company recorded a 

total fee income of MVR 5 million for 

the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018, 

which is an increase of 39% from MVR 

3.6 million for the past fiscal year 2017. 

ThE hOUsinG 

FinanCE sECTOr

The housing market in the country 

today is primarily driven by private 

sector developers and the government 

(in the case of social housing).

There are, however, state-owned companies 

(SOEs) that are emerging as players in the 

residential real estate sector. It is predicted 

in the next 2-5 years 15,000 housing units 

will be built across the nation, concentrating 

more housing units in Hulhumale’. 

We believe that formal housing finance 

can play a critical role in the government’s 

effort to managing sustainability of 

urban expansion, income distribution, 

and empowerment. At the macro level, 

housing finance generates economic 

growth via mport duty, real estate, and 

economic linkages. At the individual level, 

it makes possible for people to have both 

shelter and a real asset, which might be 

the largest investment a family makes in a 

lifetime. In addition, housing finance spur 

expansion in financial and capital markets.

However, regulators need to formulate a 

clear medium-term vision and a road-map 

for the housing finance sector. With newer 

faith in our proven strategies, we are making 

the right moves to continue the success.

OUr sTraTEGY 

HDFC is focused on maximising growth 

opportunities within the housing 

industry, the strategy being driven 

by the following key principles:

The Company will continue to grow 

its client base, by secured lending 

and  tightening the credit underwriting 

criteria, and  shall maintain its focus on 

low risk segments in  order to maintain  a 

high-quality loan portfolio and minimise 

client delinquencies and defaults.

LOnG-TErm 

FUnDinG & 

FinanCiaL 

insTrUmEnTs 

HDFC, being a non-banking financial 

institution, it relies on short- to mid-term 

funding from banks, and other corporations. 

Being a long-term lender, it is exposed 

to the interest rate risk when long-term 

loans and facilities are met with short term 

funds. In short, all of our lending is long 

term, while borrowings are short term.  

In order to facilitate long-term sources of 

funds, HDFC took an innovative step by 

issuing a 10-year listed conventional bond 

to the local market whereby we were able 

to raise more than 80 percent of the offered 

bond. This demonstrates the appetite of 

investors for longer term, and we believe this 

will pave the way to a gradual development 

of the capital market and the housing finance 

market. The Company shall continue to 

identify and seek various alternative sources 

of funding to maintain low cost of funds. 
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amna PrOFiT

Net Income on Shariah products increased from MVR 22.5 

million to MVR 25.1 million for the year 2018.

Loans neither past due nor impaired

inTErnaL CrEDiT raTinG

As at 31 December 2018  As at 31 December 2017

Internal
Ratings

Basis for
grading (B/A)

Loans to
customers

Loans to
customers

Percentage 
of total loans

Percentage 
of total loans

A+

A

A-

B+

B

C

0.2%

0.2% to 0.5%

0.5% to 1%

1% to 1.5% 

1.5% to 2%

above 2%

MVR

1,467,845,678 

-

-

-

-

-

   1,467,845,678

MVR

1,175,930,073 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

1,175,930,073

100.00%

-

-

-

-

-

100%

100.00%

-

-

-

-

-

100.00%
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assET QUaLiTY

The Company maintained its asset quality during the year (when compared to 2017 of 

the same periods) despite the aggressive competition. At the end of 31 December 2018, 

the total net portfolio amounts to MVR 1.6 billion. The Company maintains an internal 

credit rating system for all facilities either past due or impaired. The facility value falling 

under category A+ was maintained at 100% as at 31 December 2018 and in 2017 as well. 

In order to minimise the potential increase of the credit risk exposure, HDFC focuses 

more on securing loans to greater Male’ region. All assets are covered by insurances 

i.e.; contractor risk insurance during the grace period and fire insurance during the 

repayment period for the tenure of both conventional loans and Islamic facilities.
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aPPOinTmEnT 

OF aUDiTOrs 

In 2018 at the AGM, PWC was appointed as 

the new external auditors. KPMG have been 

serving HDFC for the last 4 years, KPMG 

has been appointed as the internal auditors.  

During the year one statutory audit, a half 

yearly audit and four internal audits were 

conducted. Appointment of auditors for 

2019 will be placed before the shareholders 

in the forthcoming AGM for approval. 

shariah 

COmmiTTEE anD 

COmPLianCE 

aUDiT

The Shariah Committee consists of three 

Islamic scholars who review the Amna 

products with general Shari’a principles 

and specific pronouncements, rulings and 

guidelines issued. Shariah-compliance 

has always been HDFC’s strength and no 

compromise is made on Shariah principles. 

Shariah-compliance mechanism at HDFC 

operates at different levels, ranging 

from customer visits, specific process 

flows for financing customers, to formal 

Shariah compliance Audits. Their review 

includes examination of evidence relating 

to the documentation and procedures 

adopted by the Company to ensure that 

its activities are conducted according 

to Islamic Shari’a principles. The Shari’a 

Committee met 3 times during the year.

BOarD 

COmPOsiTiOn

HDFC’s Board comprise of 5 directors, who 

are well experienced and professionals in 

their own fields. The Board has one woman 

Nominee Director. Only Managing Director 

is the (executive) Director.  The Board has 

a formal schedule of matters reserved for 

its consideration and decision, apart from 

the legally required matters. During the 

year, four board meetings were held.

DirECTOrs’ nEW 

aPPOinTmEnTs 

anD 

rEaPPOinTmEnTs

At the time of inscription of this report, 

Ms. Renu Sud Karnad, (HDFC- Investments 

Ltd.) resigned with effect from 15 March 

2019. In her place  Mr. Conrad D’Souza is 

now appointed as the Director with effect 

from 16 March 2019. No other change has 

been brought to the Board of Directors of 

the Company. The profile of Directors of 

the Company has been presented in page 

nos. from 36 to 45 of the Annual Report.

aPPOinTmEnT OF 

Chairman

As a general practice, the Chairmanship 

is rotated for a period of one year. The 

present Chairman is Mr. Conrad D’Souza 

and his term will end on the day of the 

AGM. The Board has nominated 

Mr. Conrad D’ Souza for another term.
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COrPOraTE 

GOVErnanCE

Corporate governance is a code that 

sets the principles, systems, and 

practices through which the Board 

of Directors of the Company ensures 

transparency, fairness and accountability 

in the Company’s relationship with all its 

stakeholders, viz. regulators, shareholders, 

creditors, government agencies, and 

employees among others.  HDFC has been 

complying with the standards of corporate 

governance (CG) required under the 

Companies Act and CMDA governance 

code. The Board of Directors discharge 

its duties under the applicable statutes. 

(Details of C.G is given in page 50).

hUman 

rEsOUrCEs

HDFC is fully committed to the 

development of human resources – 

investing in people: after all it is the 

employees who provide us with a 

competitive advantage within the 

knowledge economy we operate in today. 

This priority is addressed through well-

planned training programs conducted 

throughout the year with experts in the 

field. The Management has placed great 

faith in its human resource and recognises 

its role in the company’s development 

and is constantly engaged to ensure 

employees are provided with continuous 

training and education, enabling them to 

service customers beyond expectations. 

We would continue to monitor and 

deliver upon training and development 

needs of our staff, particularly with 

regard to technology, as a priority area.

hDFC in ThE 

COmmUniTY

HDFC is not structured merely to grow 

and gain profit only but it is also a 

responsible corporate entity, through 

its continuous effort to promote 

ownership of housing, wealth creation 

and towards the improvement by looking 

out for the needs and welfare of the 

society.  We believe in giving back to 

the community, through a number of 

programs that benefit various sections 

of the community. Education and human 

development took precedence amongst 

HDFC’s Corporate Social Responsibility 

programme in 2018 and invested in 

healthcare, education and training.

(Details of the training is given in page 62) 

CLOsinG OF ThE 

aDDU CEnTEr

Addu Center was opened in 2012 to 

serve the nearby island which includes, 

Fuvahmulah, and Thinadhoo and Addu 

Atoll. The Addu Center’s work was 

transferred to HDFC Male’ office and the 

Center was closed on 10 December 2018.

LiTiGaTiOns

At the date of publication of this 

Report, to the best of the Company’s 

knowledge and understanding, there 

are no on-going litigations by, or 

against HDFC, or any of its directors.
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TaXEs

The Company is required to 

pay the following taxes.

1) Business Profit Tax of 15 % to MIRA

2) Withholding Tax of 10% to MIRA

aFFirmaTiVE 

COVEnanTs

The Company adheres to the 

following covenants: 

• Undertake its business activities 

and investments in compliance 

with the applicable laws;

• Obtain and maintain all applicable, 

regulatory authorization and stay in 

compliance with the applicable laws;

• Maintain adequate accounting, 

management, and financial 
controls, and compliance,  and 

risk management systems;

• Form an Audit Committee, Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee, Credit 

Risk Management Committee, and 

Sharia Advisory Committee which 

report directly to the Board of Directors;

• Conduct its business in accordance 

with the business plan; 

• Not register any transfer of shares 

in contravention of the provisions 

of the Company’s Shareholder’s 

Agreement or its Charter;

• Not engage in activities set out in the 

Prohibited Investment Activities List; 

• Maintain appropriate insurance with 

financially sound and reputable insurers 
for losses and/or damages that may 

occur with respect to its properties;

• Abide by the best practices 

based on the recommendations 

of the Board of Directors.

anTi-mOnEY 

LaUnDErinG 

anD COmBaTinG 

ThE FinanCE 

TErrOrism

The Company complies with the 

(Law No. 10/2014) “PREVENTION 

OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND 

FINANCING OF TERRORISM ACT”, 

which was gazetted on 13 April 2014. 

The main objectives of the Act 

are as follows:

1. Provide for the prohibition and 

prevention of money laundering 

and financing of terrorism;

2. Provide for procedures and policies 

in respect of prevention of money 

laundering and financing of terrorism 
and offences related thereto;

3. Provide and administer procedures in 

respect of detection of money laundering 

and financing of terrorism activities;

4. Provide detection of persons 

engaged in money laundering and 

financing of terrorism activities, 
investigation of such matters, and 

actions against such persons,

5. Determine the roles and responsibilities 

of financial institutions and reporting 
entities, and the regulatory and 

supervisory authorities of such 

institutions and entities, in respect 

of prevention of money laundering 

and financing of terrorism;

6. Under the Prevention of Money 

Laundering and Financing of Terrorism 

Act of Maldives (No.10/2014), HDFC has 

appointed Mr. Mohamed Nawaz Hassan, 

Assistant Manager-Credit as the AML 

Officer, who reports directly to MMA.
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The Maldivian economy is predicted 

to continue its growth momentum in 

2019 by 6.8 percent. This offers wider 

opportunities to HDFC to grow its 

business, and also to contribute more  

in its role as one of the leading housing 

finance institutions.  Nevertheless, the 

financial sector remains cautious on 

the downside pressure on domestic 

sentiment from concerns such as 

high domestic living costs and 

uncertainty in policy developments in 

the advanced economies from where 

much of the imports are carried out. 

Increased complexity in the finance 

sector results in new emerging risks 

which in turn, increases the need 

for tighter scrutiny and regulatory 

environment to be in place for the 

risks to be managed effectively. The 

construction sector is expected to 

record a stronger growth driven 

primarily by existing multi-year 

housing projects. The government is 

expected to continue to support the 

infrastructure projects, underpinned 

by the nation’s development 

needs and the government’s 

ability to support the projects.

The capital markets are still 

underdeveloped in the country and 

the regulatory environment could 

be strengthened, which would help 

to support further growth of this 

market. Furthermore, market data 

is not as robust as it should be. 

Pressure for housing and housing 

loans will continue to grow. For the 

mortgage market to rapidly expand 

beyond current effective demand 

FUTUrE

OUTLOOK

our future

strategy will be to 

source long term 

funds through 

borrowing and 

issuing financial 
instruments, 

and at the same 

time, we will 

also focus to 

increase our client 

base in both islamic 

and conventional 

products.   
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and address some of the existing housing 

finance gaps, adequate mortgage 

funding is needed from a diverse and 

increased number of commercial banks. 

The outlook for 2019 looks challenging, 

especially with the introduction of 

new IFRS 9 regulations, which may 

impact the profit of the organisation. 

Technology remains a crucial dynamic in 

our growth strategy. Given our smaller 

stature in the larger landscape of the 

banking space and reach, we are well 

aware that sophisticated technology 

will give HDFC the competitive edge in 

moving forward. This will also circumvent 

some of the emerging challenges 

we observe, including lack of trained 

human resources which is universal 

to all institutions in this field. Building 

technology that enables people to 

have access via the Internet and mobile 

phones for example, will in turn reduce 

human intervention enable products and 

services accessible anytime, anywhere.

Our future strategy therefore will be 

to source long term funds through 

borrowing and issuing financial 

instruments, and at the same time, we will 

also focus to increase our client base in 

both islamic and conventional products.   
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FinanCiaL 

rEPOrTinG

The Company furnishes the following 

information to its Shareholders;

• Annual Audited Financial Statements 
within 120 days after the end of each 
financial year, which is prepared in 
accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);

• Quarterly financial statements: within 
45 days after the end of each quarter, 

• Under the RIGHT TO INFORMATION 
ACT OF MALDIVES (No:01/2014), 
the Company must present its 
independent annual review within 
31 days after the year end to the 
Information Commissioner’s 
Office. Mr. Faisal Haleem, Manager, 
Compliance is appointed as 
the Information Officer.

EFFECTiVE nEW 

sTanDarDs 

The following new standards and 

amendments are effective for the 

year ended 31 December 2018, have 

been applied while preparing these 

consolidated financial statements:

iFrs 9: Financial instruments - 

hedge accounting (amendments 

to iFrs 9, iFrs 7 and ias 39)

introduces new requirements for Hedge 

Accounting that align hedge accounting 

more closely with risk management. 

The requirements also establish a 

more principles-based approach 

to hedge accounting and address 

inconsistencies and weakness in the 

hedge accounting model in IAS 39.

iFrs 9: Financial instruments - impairment 

introduces new requirements for impairment. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, bringing 

together the classification and measurement, 

impairment and hedge accounting to replace 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and measurement and all previous versions 

of IFRS 9. The new standard addresses the 

key concern that arose as a result of the 

financial crisis that the incurred loss model 

in IAS 39 which contributed to the delayed 

recognition of credit losses, by issuing the new 

impairment requirements that are based on 

a more forward-looking expected credit loss 

model. The reporting requirements of IFRS 9 

relating to impairment was 1 January 2018.

nEW sTanDarDs, amEnDmEnTs 

anD inTErPrETaTiOns issUED 

BUT nOT YET aDOPTED

      

Certain new accounting standards and 

interpretations have been published 

that are not mandatory for 31 

December 2018 reporting periods.

             

iFrs 16 Leases

The IASB has published IFRS 16 – the new 

leases standard. It came into effect on 1 

January 2019. The new Standard eliminates 

a lessee’s classification of leases as either 

operating leases or finance leases. Instead, 

almost all leases are ‘capitalised’ by 

recognising a lease liability and right-of-

use asset on the balance sheet. There is a 

little change for lessors. The right to use the 

leased item and a financial liability to pay 

rentals are recognised. The only exceptions 

are short-term and low value leases. HDFC 

has taken a store room space on the ground 

floor of the office building, in Male’. HDFC is 

in the process of evaluating the impact, and 

it’s not expected to have a material impact.
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DirECTOrs’ 

rEsPOnsiBiLiTY 

sTaTEmEnT

The Board of Directors hereby state that:

1. In the preparation of the annual accounts, 
applicable accounting standards have 
been followed. Appropriate accounting 
policies have been consistently followed 
to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company at the 
end of the financial year, and for the 
profit of the Company for the year.

2. Proper and adequate accounting 
records and controls have been 
maintained in accordance with the 
provisions of the Company’s Act 
10/96, safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and preventing irregularities.

3. The annual accounts have been 
prepared on a going- concern basis.

4. There were no unexpired service contracts 
within one year without payment of 
compensation to any Director.

5. The Board of Directors affirms that there 
are no other interest of the Directors 
except those disclosed in this report and 
the accompanying financial statements.

6. The Board of Directors further affirms 
that no major events have occurred 
subsequent to the balance sheet date 
which would require adjustments to, or 

disclosure in the financial statements.

DECLaraTiOn OF 

inTErEsT

All directors are required to disclose any matters 

which may lead to, or be perceived as a conflict of 

interest in compliance with the Company’s Code 

of Conduct; and key management personnel have 

fully disclosed any conflict of interest between 

their duties to HDFC in their individual profile.

aWarDs anD 

rECOGniTiOn 

Over the years HDFC has been recognised 

for its services given to the public by many 

different institutions and in 2018 too, it was 

presented with the best Award for Excellence 

in Finance from Blazon Inc. In February 

2019, we also received the GOLD 100 award 

presented by Corporate Maldives. 

aPPrECiaTiOn

On behalf of HDFC, I would like to extend my highest gratitude to our customers, the 

Ministry of Finance, Maldives Monetary Authority, and regulatory bodies and our business 

partners for their continued support and guidance. On behalf of the Management team, I 

would also like to express my sincere appreciation to the Board of Directors and Shariah 

Committee for all the guidance and invaluable advice provided. Most importantly, I am 

grateful for the commitment demonstrated by the Management and staff of HDFC. I 

look forward to continue working with all of you as we undertake this exciting journey 

oftransformation and improvement for HDFC in the coming years.

mohamed mauroof Jameel

board Director, Government of Maldives
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Mr. Conrad D’Souza*

Mr. Mohamed Mauroof Jameel 
Mr. Nihal Senanayake Welikala 
Mr. Gaurav Agarwal 
Ms. Renu Sud Karnad* 
  
Ms. Aminath Sheena Musthafa *

Ms. Raheema Saleem
 
Mr. Hamid Sodique 
Mr. Mohamed Zuhair *
Mr. Asif Saeed Cheema

Mr. Adam Athif

aUDiT COmmiTTEE

Mr. Conrad D’ Souza 
Mr. Mohamed Mauroof Jameel
Mr. Nihal Senanayake Welikala
 

CrEDiT risK manaGEmEnT COmmiTTEE

Mr. Nihal Senanayake Welikala
Mr. Mohamed Mauroof Jameel
Mr. Gaurav Agarwal

nOminaTiOn & rEmUnEraTiOn COmmiTTEE

Mr. Mohamed Mauroof Jameel
Mr. Gaurav Agarwal
Mr. Conrad D’Souza

shariah COmmiTTEE

Dr. Ibrahim Zakariyya Moosa    
Assoc. Professor Dr. Rusni Hassan   
Dr. Aishath Muneeza*   
Mr. Mohamed Ibrahim*  
Uz. Azmeen Rasheed

Chairman/Alternate Director,
HDFC Investments Ltd. India
* (resigned as Alt. Director on the 15 of March 2018 and was 
appointed as the Nominee Director on the 15 March 2018)

Nominee Director, GOM
Nominee Director, IFC
Nominee Director, ADB
Nominee Director, HDFC Investments Ltd. India 
(Resigned on 15 March 2019)

Nominee Director, GOM (Appointed on 11 April 2018)

Managing Director 
 
Alternate Director, GOM
Alternate Director, GOM (Appointed on 11 April 2018)

Alternate Director, ADB

Company Secretary

Chairman
Member
Member

Chairman
Member
Member

Chairman
Member
Member
 

Chairman
Member
Member (Term ended on 7 April 2019)

Member (Appointed on 8 April 2019) 
Secretary

BOarD
oF DireCTors
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Qualification and Experience
He has more than 30 years of experience in architecture and construction. He 

is an architect and specialist. He holds MSc in Architecture from University of 

Malaya, Malaysia, and a Post Graduate Diploma from the University of Sheffield, 

UK. In addition, he also holds Ba (Hons.) in Architecture, Manchester Metropolitan 

University, UK. Mr. Mauroof Jameel is also a fellow of the Chartered Architect of 

the Royal Institute of British Architectural (RIBA), UK since 2004. He also served 

as a cabinet Minister at the Ministry of Construction and Public Infrastructure 

and was the Chairman and CEO of Hulhumale Development Corporation.

Other appointments
• Part-time lecturer at Maldives National University 

 Board Committees 
• N&R Committee (Chairman)

• Audit Committee (Member)

• Credit Risk Management Committee (Member)

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc.

mr. mohamed 

mauroof Jameel

Independent, Non - Executive Director
Government of Maldives

Mr. Mohamed Mauroof Jameel was 

appointed as an Independent, 

Non - Executive Director by the Government 

of Maldives on 22 September 2016.
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 Qualification and Experience
She has more than 18 years of experience working in the Government of Maldives. 

She holds a Master of Business Administration from Anglia Polytechnic University, 

Anglia Business School, Cambridge, UK. In addition, she also holds a Bachelor of Arts 

Degree (Management Single Honours) from Trinity and All Saints University College, 

University of Leeds, UK. She has also served as the Chairperson of the Management 

Audit Committee (Joint Project of the President’s Office and Civil Service Commission), 

as a member in the Maldives Scholarship Board and as a member of the Civil Service 

Innovation Award Committee. She is currently Head of the Human Resource and 

Performance Management Section at The President’s Office as Director General.

 

Other appointments
• Director General- Head of Human Resources and Performance 

• Management Section. President’s Office

Board Committees: 
 None

 

She does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 
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ms. aminath 

sheena musthafa

Independent, Non - Executive Director
Government of Maldives 

 

Ms. Aminath Sheena Musthafa was 

appointed as an Independent, 

Non - Executive Director by the 

Government of Maldives on 11 April 2018.
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Qualification and Experience
Mr. D’Souza has a Master’s Degree in Commerce, a Master’s Degree in Business 

Administration and is a Senior Executive Program (SEP) graduate of the London 

Business School.  He  is a Member of the Executive Management & Chief Investor 

Relations Officer at HDFC, India. He is also a Member of the Asset Liability 

Committee (ALCO) and the Risk Management Committee of HDFC India..  He 

was earlier the Treasurer of HDFC, India and his responsibilities included resource 

mobilisation both domestic and international and asset liability management. 

He has been a consultant to multilateral agencies and has 

undertaken assignments in Asia, Africa, and Eastern Europe.

 

 Other appointments
Mr D’Souza has been a member of national committees to review the Introduction 

of Variable Rate Mortgages and for the creation of a Secondary Mortgage Market 

in India. He has been instrumental in setting up mortgage finance companies in 

Bangladesh, Egypt, Maldives and Tanzania and is currently on the Board of First 

Housing Finance (Tanzania) Limited. He is also a Director on Nations Trust Bank, Sri 

Lanka, Chalet Hotels Limited, India and four other HDFC India Group Companies.

 

Board Committees
• Audit Committee (Chairman)

• Nomination and Remuneration Committee (Member)

 

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 

mr. Conrad 

D’souza

Independent, Non - Executive Director
HDFC Investments Limited (India)

Mr. D’Souza was appointed as 

an Independent, Non - Executive 

Director on 15 March 2019. Previously 

he was the Alternate Director for 

HDFC Investments Ltd. India from

9 September 2009 till 14 March 2019. 
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Qualification and experience
Mr. Nihal has been with the NDB Group for more than 9 years including more than 6 

years as CEO and prior to this post he was employed at Citibank in Colombo from 

1981 to 1999 which included 11 years as CEO where he was the first Sri Lankan to 

hold this post. In addition, Mr. Nihal also has worked at Ernst & Young, London Office 

for more than 7 years in the audit and tax department. He is trained as a Chartered 

Accountant with Ernst & Young in London. He holds a Bachelor of Law degree from 

the University of Sri Lanka and is also a Fellow member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. 

In addition, Mr. Nihal also served as NDB’s Nominee-Director at MFLC, Maldives.

 

Other appointments
• Non executive director of subsidiary companies of National Development Bank.

• Global treasurer, International Union for the Conservation of Nature.

• Independent consultant in the financial sector.

 

Board Committees:
• Credit Risk Management Committee (Chairman)

• Audit Committee (Member)

 

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives.
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mr. nihal 

senanayake 

Welikala

Independent, Non - Executive Director
International Finance Corporation (IFC) 

 

Mr. Welikala was appointed as 

an Independent, Non - Executive 

Director by the International Finance 

Corporation on 02 November 2016.
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Qualification and Experience
Mr. Agarwal has more than 24 years of working experience which includes 

more than 10 years of experience as a chief finance officer (CFO) in 

mortgage finance and banking industry. He has contributed to build first 

Islamic mortgage company in Dubai, UAE and adept in risk management, 

product management and treasury.  Currently he manages a management 

consultancy firm and based in Dubai. Gaurav is GEMBA from INSEAD, 

France, and qualified MBA, ICWAI and ICFAI-Hyderabad, India.

 

Other appointments 
• CFO Emirates Investment Bank Pjsc, Dubai. 

 

Board Committees
• Credit Risk Management Committee (member)

• Nomination and Remuneration Committee (member)

 

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 

mr. Gaurav

agarwal 

Independent, Non - Executive Director
Asian Development Bank (ADB)

Mr. Gaurav was appointed as an 

Independent, Non - Executive 

Director by the Asian Development 

Bank on 14 February 2017.
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Qualification and Experience 
She was the founding managing director until the Company was privatised in 

2008, where she was appointed as an advisor to the Managing Director until 2010 

when she left for her sabbatical and returned in 2014 and was appointed as the 

Operations Director and Company Secretary till 2017. In February 2017 she was 

appointed as the Managing Director of the Company. She was also on the Board 

of Directors of HDFC from 2004 till 2010. Prior to joining HDFC, she served at the 

Ministry of Finance and Treasury for more than 16 years in various senior positions. 

In addition, she also served as a Board Director of State Trading Organisation 

and during those 3 years she was also the Chairman of the Maldives National Oil 

Company and was also the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the STO Board. 

She holds a Master of Management from Monash University and Master of Tourism 

from Monash University Australia and Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting 

and Marketing (Double Major) from Curtin University, Western Australia. 

 

Other appointments
None

Board Committees 
None

She has declared that she does not hold any shares in any company in the 

Maldives that has or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc.
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ms. raheema 

saleem 

Non - Independent, Executive Director
HDFC PLC - MALDIVES

Ms. Raheema was appointed as the 

Managing Director on 28 February 2017.

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc



ANNUAL
REPORT

2 0 1 8

mr. hamid sodique 

Independent, Non - Executive Director
Government of Maldives

Mr. Sodique was appointed as an Independent, Non - Executive 

Director by the Government of Maldives on 10 April 2011.

 Qualification and Experience
Mr. Sodique has over 15years of experience in management consulting, socio-

economic research and strategic advisory services. He is presently the Chief 

Executive Officer of FJS Consulting Pvt. Ltd., a leading management consulting 

firm in the Maldives, and is a visiting lecturer of Corporate Strategy at the Maldives 

National University. He has previously served on the Board of the Maldives Pension 

Administration Office and chaired its Investment Committee, and served as the 

Secretary-General of Maldives National Commission for UNESCO. Mr. Sodique 

started his Professional career in the Maldives Monetary Authority and since 

then has worked at senior positions of a number of public and private sector 

organizations, and has executed numerous research and consulting projects 

for prominent local and international clients including government ministries 

and multilateral organizations. Mr. Sodique holds a master’s degree in business 

administration from the University of Adelaide, Australia in addition to a bachelor’s 

degree in Business Administration from the University of Brunei Darussalam.

 

Other appointments 
• Chief Executive Officer, FJS Consulting Pvt. Ltd.

 

Board Committees
None

 

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 
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mr. mohamed Zuhair

Independent, Non - Executive Director
Government of Maldives 

Mr. Mohamed Zuhair was appointed as an Independent, Non - Executive 

Director by the Government of Maldives on 11 April 2018.

 

Qualification and Experience
He has more than 30 years of experience at prominent positions in the Government 

of Maldives. He holds MSc in Agricultural Studies from the University of Queensland, 

Australia. In addition, he also holds a Bachelor of Science Degree (in Agriculture) and 

Post Graduate Diploma of Ingenieur Agricola from American University of Beirut, 

Lebanon. He also served as a Deputy Minister at the Ministry of Fisheries, Agriculture 

and Marine Resources and was the Chairman of MIFCO. In addition, he has served 

as Managing Director at Fantasy Pvt Ltd, a leading trading company in Maldives. His 

current portfolio is Minister of State at the Ministry of Defence and National Security.

 

Other appointments
• Chairman of Kadhdhoo Airport Company

 

Board Committees
None

 

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 
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mr. asif saeed Cheema 

Independent, Non - Executive Director
Asian Development Bank (ADB)

Mr. Cheema was appointed as an Independent, Non - Executive 

Director by the Asian Development Bank on the 1st April 2015.

 

Qualification and Experience
Mr. Cheema started his career at Deutsche Bank Securities, New York as 

an Equity Research Associate in 1996. Before joining ADB Mr. Cheema has 

worked in various financial institutions including J.P. Morgan Securities, New 

York, HSBC Investment Bank, Dubai and London, Nomura International, Dubai 

as Executive Director, Corporate Finance and Investment Banking. He also 

has worked at Alpen Capital, Dubai, and UAE. Mr. Cheema, holds a master’s 

degree in Business Administration (MBA) from Yale University and course work 

in International Affairs from Columbia University and Bachelor of Science in 

accounting and finance from New York Institute of Technology, New York.

 

Other appointments
• Financial Institutions Investment Specialist (ADB)

 

Board Committees
None

 

He does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 
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ms. renu sud Karnad 

Independent, Non - Executive Director
HDFC Investments Limited (India).

Ms. Renu Sud Karnad was appointed as an Independent, 

Non - Executive Director by HDFC Investments Ltd. India, on 9 September 

2008 - 14 March 2019. She resigned on the 15 March 2019.

 

Qualification and Experience
Ms. Karnad has more than 38 years of experience in Housing Mortgage 

Finance. She joined HDFC India in 1978. Having spent 20 years in various 

post of the Company, Ms. Karnad was appointed to the Board as Executive 

Director in 2000 and was re-designated as Managing Director from 1st January 

2010. Ms. Karnad also holds Pravin Fellowship from the Woodrow Wilson 

School of International Affairs, Princeton, NJ. Ms. Karnad is a Law Graduate 

and also holds a Masters degree in Economics from Delhi University. Over 

the years, Ms. Karnad has received numerous awards and accolades.

 

Other appointments
Managing Director at Housing Development Finance Corp. Ltd, Mrs. Karnad 

is a member on the following Committees of the Board of the Bank: 

Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (Chairperson)

Risk Policy and Monitoring Committee (Chairperson)

Premises Committee (Chairperson)

 

Board Committees
None

 

She does not hold any shares in any company in the Maldives that has 

or will be perceived as a conflict of interest with HDFC Plc. 
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mohamed Fathy
Assistant General Manager (IT)

 

• Appointed as AGM- IT in 2017

• Joined HDFC in 2004.

• Key positions held in HDFC include, 

Head of Internal Audit, Manager- 

IT and Senior Manager IT.

• M.Sc. in IT Management from Asia 

Pacific University of Malaysia and B.Com. 

from Bangalore University of India

raheema saleem
Managing Director

 

• Appointed as MD in February 2017

• Joined HDFC in 2004

• Key positions held in HDFC includes, 

Founding Managing Director, 

Advisor, Director of Operations

• Worked at the Ministry of Finance 

and Treasury for over 15 years

• Over 15 years of experience 

in Housing Finance

• Master’s in management from Monash 

University, Melbourne, Masters in Tourism 

from Monash University, Melbourne, 

Australia, B. Com Accounting and 

Marketing (Double Major) from Curtin 

University of Western Australia

 

ProFiLe oF THe

manaGEmEnT
TEam
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aishath rasheeda 
Assistant General Manager (Credit)

 

• Appointed as AGM- Credit in 2017

• Joined HDFC in 2004

• Worked in Maldives Monetary 

Authority for more than 15 years

• Key positions held in HDFC include 

Credit Officer, Manager Credit 

and Senior Manager Credit.

• Over 15 years of experience 

in mortgage finance 

• Master of Business Administration 

from Cardiff Metropolitan University, 

UK through International College of 

Business Technology (ICBT) Sri Lanka

adam athif
Assistant General Manager 

(Administration) & Company Secretary

 

• Appointed as Senior Manager in 2014

• Joined HDFC in 2004

• Worked in the government and 

private sector since 1990-2004.

• Key positions held at HDFC include 

Senior Manager Administration and 

Human Resource Development, 

Manager Administration and 

Human Resource Development 

and Manager Administration.

• Diploma in Business 

Administration (ABE)

47Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc



ANNUAL
REPORT

2 0 1 8

mohamed shafeeq
Assistant General Manager (Finance)

 

• Appointed as AGM (Finance) in 2017

• Joined HDFC in 2009

• Key positions held in HDFC include, 

Head of Finance, Senior Manager 

Business Development and Operations, 

Manager Business Development 

and CRM and Accountant.

• Worked at Society of Health 

Education (SHE) as Finance 

Director from 1997-2009.

• Fellow member of the Association of 

Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA). 

• Master of Business Administration 

from the University of Ballarat, through 

Unity College, Malaysia, BA (Hons) 

Accounting and Finance by University 

of East London, UK obtained through 

HELP University College, Malaysia.

  

Faisal haleem 
Manager - (Compliance and 

Quality Assurance)

 

• Appointed as Manager in 2017 

(Compliance & Quality & Assurance)

• Joined HDFC in 2009

• Worked in the Ministry of Education 

• Key positions held at HDFC 

including Assistant Manager-credit, 

Assistant Manager Credit Audit.

• Affiliate member of the Association of 

Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA).

• BA (Hons) Accounting and 

Finance from the University of 

East London, UK through HELP 

University College, Malaysia.

azmeen rasheed
Manager (Islamic Finance)

 

• Appointed in 2016 as Manager 

(Islamic Finance)

• Joined HDFC in 2016

• Registered attorney in the Maldives, 

• Lecturer on governance and 

Sharia related subjects.

• Master’s in law, (Banking and Taxation 

Law) from Maldives National University. 

• Bachelor’s Degree majoring in Sharia 

Law from Islamic University of 

Almadinah Al Munawwarah (KSA).

  

ahmed Jawad
Manager (IT)

 

• Appointed in 2016 as Manager IT

• Joined HDFC in 2016

• Worked in MIFCO from 2003-2016 

• Over 14 years of experience in 

Information Technology, especially 

in Enterprise Resource Planning 

Environments and Data Management.

• M.Sc. in IT Management from 

Staffordshire University, UK, through 

Asia Pacific University of Malaysia and a 

BA in Business Information Technology 

from Coventry University, UK through 

INTI International University of Malaysia. 
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HDFC’s major shareholders are; 

government of maldives (49%) 

asian Development bank (18%)

international Finance Corporation (18%) 

HDFC investments Limited, india (15%)
 

     Face Value of a share is MVR 100.00 

    Name Number of shares  Value of shares  Percentage
 held held

Government of Maldives 780,928.00 78,092,800.00 49%

International Finance Corporation 286,875.00  28,687,500.00 18%

Asian Development Bank 286,875.00 28,687,500.00 18%

HDFC Investment Ltd, India 239,062.00 23,906,200.00 15%

Mr. Ibrahim Naeem  1.00 100.00

Ms. Raheema Saleem 1.00 100.00

Mr. Hamid Yoosuf 1.00 100.00

Mr. Mohamed Shahudy 1.00 100.00 

Mr. Mohamed Fathy  1.00 100.00 

Ms. Aishath Rasheeda 1.00 100.00 

Mr. Mohamed Hamdan Fahumy 1.00 100.00

Mr. Ahmed Anwar 1.00 100.00

Mr. Nahid Idrees  1.00 100.00

Reserved 1 share (Expat MD if any)  1.00 100.00

 

Total 1,593,750.00 159,375,000.00

Face value of share is MVR 100

THe sHareHoLDiNg

sTrUCTUrE
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COrPOraTE
GOVErnanCE
PHiLosoPHy

Corporate governance is about maximizing 

shareholder value legally, ethically and on 

a sustainable basis. At HDFC, the goal of 

corporate governance is to ensure fairness 

for every stakeholder – our customers, 

shareholders, investors, the community, and 

the government. We believe that sound 

corporate governance is critical in enhancing 

and retaining investor trust. It reflects our 

culture, our policies, our relationship with 

stakeholders and our commitment to values. 

Accordingly, we always seek to ensure that 

our performance is driven by integrity.

The Corporate Governance policy in the 

Company encompasses the simple doctrines 

of integrity, transparency and fairness in 

whatever the company does and what it 

basically aims at achieving is a complete 

adherence to the applicable statutes while 

at the same time ensuring a complete 

commitment to values and the highest ethical 

standards in every facet of its operations 

and in each of the functional areas. This 

in turn ensures that best in the class 

concept of Corporate Governance practices 

become a way of life in the Company. 

Our Board exercises its fiduciary 

responsibilities in the widest sense of the 

term. Our disclosures seek to attain the 

best practices in international corporate 

governance. We also endeavour to enhance 

long-term shareholder value and respect 

minority rights in all our business decisions.

In line with the nature and size of 

operations of the Company, the Corporate 

Governance framework in HDFC Maldives 

is based on the following key principles: 

• Constitution of a Board of Directors of 
appropriate composition, size, varied 
experience and commitment to discharge 
their responsibilities and duties.

• Conduct all affairs adhering to the 
highest standards of ethics, transparency, 
accountability, honesty and integrity.

• Ensuring timely flow of information 
by providing accurate, fair, timely, 
full and meaningful disclosures in 
the periodic reports to the Board, its 
Committees and other stakeholders and 
regulatory agencies to enable them to 
discharge their functions effectively.

• Independent verification and assured 
integrity of financial reporting. 

• Timely and balanced disclosure of all 
material information concerning the 
Company and potential conflicts of interest 
that the directors or management may 
have in the discharge of their duties and 
responsibilities on corporate governance.

• A sound system of risk management 
and internal control.

• Prevent the misuse of misapplication 
of HDFC’s assets and resources.

• Compliance with applicable 
laws, rules and regulations. 

• Having a simple and transparent corporate 
structure driven solely by business needs
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The Company has been complying with 

the standards of corporate governance 

required under the Companies Act 

10/96, MMA, CMDA and MSE. The Board 

discharges the duties and responsibilities 

as required under applicable laws.

BOarD 

COmPOsiTiOn

The Board of Directors comprise of 5 

nominee directors, two alternate directors 

and one executive director, who is the 

Managing Director without a voting right. 

Except for the Government of Maldives 

(GOM) all shareholders have one nominee 

director. The GOM has two nominee 

directors. There are two women on the 

board. The Board members possess skills 

and experience and proven track records 

in housing finance, business administration 

and other diverse fields including banking 

and finance. The Board comprises of 

the following directors. During the year, 

four (4) board meetings were held.

 

rEsPOnsiBiLiTiEs

OF ThE BOarD
 

The HDFC Board is accountable to 

the shareholders for overseeing the 

management and performance of the 

Company and is responsible for the 

Company’s overall strategy and governance. 

The Board has delegated the responsibility 

for day-to-day management of the 

Company to the Managing Director.

Mr. Conrad D’Souza-*   
Chairman

Mr. Mohamed  
Mauroof Jameel

Ms. Renu Sud  
Karnad*

Ms. Aminath Sheena  
Musthafa*

Mr. Nihal Senanayake  
Welikala 

Mr. Gaurav Agarwal

Ms. Raheema Saleem

Mr. Adam Athif

Alternate 
Director HDFC-
Investments India

Director-GOM

Director, HDFC 
Investments

Director-GOM

Director- IFC

Director-ADB

Managing Director

Company Secretary

4/4

4/4

0/4

3/3

4/4

4/4

4/4

4/4

Board
meeting
1.

Board
meeting
2.

Board
meeting
3.

Board
meeting
4.

no. of meetings
held during the
tenure 

Ms. Renu Sud Karnad* (Resigned on 15 March 2019)
 Nominee Director - HDFC Investments Ltd.
Mr. Conrad D’ Souza (Appointed as nominee director  on 15 March 2019)
 Nominee Director - HDFC Investments Ltd.
Ms. Aminath Sheena Mustafa* 3/3 (Joined on 11 April 2018)
 Nominee Director, GOM
Mr. Mohamed Zuhair* (Joined on 11 April 2018)
      Alternate Director, GOM 

NoTe:

BOarD mEETinGs anD aTTEnDanCE

name Capacity
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Chairman OF 

ThE BOarD

Mr. Conrad D’Souza is the Chairman 

effective from 31 May 2018. The Chairman 

of the Board of Directors is appointed 

for one year in rotation and shall preside 

at all meetings of the Board or any 

Committees where he is a member and 

at all General Meetings. The Chairman 

has no casting or second vote at any 

meeting of the Board or any committee 

in the event of an equality of votes. 

As Chairman, he is responsible for 

fostering and promoting the integrity 

of the Board while nurturing a culture 

where the Board works harmoniously 

for the long-term benefit of the 

Company and all its stakeholders and 

oversee the management of the 

Boards administrative activities, such 

as meetings, schedules, agenda. 

BOarD 

COmmiTTEEs

The Board consists of various committees; 

Audit Committee, Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, and Credit 

Risk Management Committee. In addition, 

a Shariah Committee is formulated to 

advise the Board on Sharia issues.

ThE aUDiT 

COmmiTTEE

The Audit Committee was established 

in accordance with the Articles of 

Association 123 of HDFC Plc., and Article 

II Corporate Governance Section (b) of 

the Shareholders Agreement executed 

between the Shareholders on 23 July 2008, 

consisting of 3 non-executive directors 

from amongst the Board Directors. 

aUDiT COmmiTTEE mEmBErs anD ThEir aTTEnDanCE

Mr. Conrad D’Souza-*   
Chairman

Mr. Mohamed  
Mauroof Jameel

Ms. Nihal Senanayake 
Welikala 

Mr. Adam
       Athif

Alternate 
Director HDFC-
Investments India

Member

Member

Company
Secretary

3/3

3/3

2/3

3/3

audit
Committee
1.

audit
Committee
2.

audit
Committee
3.

no. of meetings
held during the
tenure 

name Capacity
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OBJECTiVEs OF ThE 

aUDiT COmmiTTEE 

Prime objective of the Audit 

Committee is to assist the Board in 

fulfilling its overall responsibilities 

and shall include the following.

 
• To oversee the financial reporting process 

and disclosure of financial information;

• To review with management, quarterly, 
half yearly and annual financial 
statements and accuracy and correctness 
before submission to the Board;

• Review the effectiveness of 
HDFC’s internal risk controls and 
risk management system;

• To review with management and internal 
auditors, the adequacy of internal 
control systems, approving the internal 
audit plans/ reports and reviewing the 
efficacy of their function, discussion and 
review of periodic audit reports including 
findings of internal investigations;

• To recommend the appointment 
of the internal and statutory 
auditors and their remuneration;

• To review and approve required 
provisions to be maintained 
and write off decisions;

• To hold discussions with the 
Statutory and Internal Auditors;

• Review and monitoring of the auditor’s 
independence and performance, and 
effectiveness of the audit process;

• Examination of the auditors’ report on 
the financial statements of the Company 
(in addition to the financial statements) 
before submission to the Board;

• Scrutiny of corporate loans 
and investments;

• Review valuation undertaken 
for the Company;

• Review and critically evaluate the 
accounting policies, including 
consistency in the application of 
the policies, and any change being 
recommended to the accounting policies;

• Ensure that compliance requirements 

are adhered to and are being 
reported on a timely manner;

• Evaluation of the risk 
management systems 

• To hold post audit discussions with the 
auditors to ascertain any area of concern;

The Audit Committee deliberated 

on the followings:

• Reviewed the Audited Financials 
for the year ended 2017

• Reviewed the budget for 2018 
and approved for authorisation 
from the Board

• Reviewed the proposals sent by the 
external auditors for 2018 (PWC)

• Reviewed the proposals sent by the 
internal auditors for 2018 (KPMG)

• Reviewed CMDA quarterly 
reports through circulation

• Approval of Ramzan allowance

• Presentation of AML reports

• Endorsements of the changes 
made to the manuals

• Presentation of loan book 
against title deeds

• Review of directors’ approval on 
credit limit for borrowers

• Approval for closing of Addu Center 
and the transfer of Addu Center’s 
operations to HDFC Male’ Office

• Approval of 2019 budget 
and 2019 Business Plan

• Approval of Dividend 

• Approval of Whistle Blowing 
Policy, Dividend Policy and 

Corporate Governance Policy
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nOminaTiOn anD rEmUnEraTiOn 

COmmiTTEE

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was established in accordance 

with the Article of Association 123 and Article II of the Corporate Governance 

Section (b) of the Shareholders Agreement executed between the Shareholders 

on 23 July 2008, consisting of 3 non-executive directors. During the year 

3 meetings were held. Details of the meetings are as follows.

Due to the fact that there are limited no. of directors, the Board have 

decided to combine the Nomination and Remuneration Committee since 

both the committees will constitute of the same members.

nOminaTiOn anD rEmUnEraTiOn COmmiTTEE 

mEmBErs anD ThEir aTTEnDanCE

OBJECTiVEs OF ThE nOminaTiOn anD 

rEmUnEraTiOn COmmiTTEE

Mr. Mohamed  
Mauroof Jameel

Mr. Conrad D’Souza

Mr. Gaurav Agarwal 

Mr. Adam Athif

Chairman

Member

Member

Company Secretary

3/3

3/3

3/3

3/3

nr
Committee 1.

nr
Committee 2.

nr
Committee 3.

no. of meetings
held during the
tenure 

name Capacity

Prime objective of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is to assist the 

Board in fulfilling its overall responsibilities and shall include the following:

 
• Formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and 

independence of a director and recommend to the board of directors a policy relating 
to, the remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees;

• Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of 
independent directors and the board of directors;

• Review of the organisation structure;

• Review and endorse HR policies;

• Adopt best HR practices for training, retention and development of staff
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CrEDiT risK COmmiTTEE mEmBErs anD ThEir aTTEnDanCE

Mr. Nihal Senanayake 
Welikala

Mr. Mohamed 
Mauroof Jameel

Mr. Gaurav Agarwal  

Mr. Adam Athif

Chairman

Member

Member

Company Secretary

1/1

1/1

1/1

1/1

Credit risk management 
Committee 1.

no. of meetings
held during the tenure 

name Capacity

• Set and recommend new staff benefit schemes to the Board.

• Identify and shortlist suitable candidates to be recruited to the senior level positions.

Summary of the key activities the N & R Committee 

undertook during the year 2018 are as follows:

• Approval of the renewal of MD’s Contract

• Approval of the bonus for 2018 and Ramadan Allowance for 2019

• Endorsement of the newly appointed nominee directors and alternate director

CrEDiT risK manaGEmEnT COmmiTTEE

The Credit Risk Management Committee was established in accordance with the 

Articles of Association 123 of HDFC and Article II of Corporate Governance Section 

(b) of the Shareholders Agreement executed between the Shareholders on July 23, 

2008. The Credit Risk Management Committee comprises of the following members. 

Only one credit committee was held where all members were present.

OBJECTiVEs OF ThE COmmiTTEE
 
• To approve proposed changes in Lending Prudential guidelines and major credit policies

• To approve discretion and onward delegation guidelines 
of the next level of   management

• To consider and determine proposals exceeding management’s approval limits

• To receive and review reports on credit quality, risk management policies and procedures

• To consider and approve general provisioning policies and specific provisions

• Carry out such other duties that may be delegated to the 
committee by the Board from time to time

All matters relating to credit approvals were circulated to the committee 

members. Ten conventional credit files were circulated to the board for approval 
and 12 Islamic Credit files were circulated to the board for their approval.

NoTe:

55Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc



ANNUAL
REPORT

2 0 1 8

shariah COmmiTTEE

HDFC’s Amna wing is managed to ensure proper shariah governance mechanism both 

within the department and among its shareholders. a shariah committee consisting of 

three members has been established to advise the board of directors of the company 

on shariah related matters and issues. During the year 3 meetings were held. 

shariah COmmiTTEE mEmBErs anD ThEir aTTEnDanCE

Dr Zakariyya Moosa

Pro. Rusni Binti Hassan

Dr. Aishath Muneeza

Uz. Azmeen Rasheed

Chairperson

Member

Member

Secretary

26 Feb
2018

29 apr
2018

3 may
2018

24 & 25
Oct 2018

4 Dec
2018

name Capacity

annUaL GEnEraL mEETinG

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) was held on 31 May at 2018 at Hulhule 

Island Hotel. The AGM of the shareholders requires a quorum comprising 

of shareholders holding a majority of shares in the Company.

attendees at the aGm

1. Mr. Conrad D’Souza –Alternate Director for HDFC Investments Ltd.

2. Mr. Gaurav Agarwal- Director for Asian Development Bank (ADB)

3. Mr. Nihal Senanayake Welikala – Director for International Finance Corporation (IFC)

4. Mr. Mohamed Mauroof Jameel – Director for Government of Maldives 

5. Ms. Aminath Sheena Musthafa – Director for Government of Maldives

6. Ms. Raheema Saleem – Managing Director /Shareholder

7. Government of Maldives/MOFT -Proxy by Mr. Mohamed Nizar

8. HDFC Investments Limited -Proxy held by Mr. Conrad D’Souza

9. IFC -Proxy held Mr. Conrad D’Souza 

10. Ms. Chandrasekaran Mudale Manohari S. Gunawardena   

 – Holding Proxy for Shareholder ADB

11. Ms. Aishath Rasheeda – Shareholder

12. Mr. Mohamed Fathy - Shareholder  

13. Mr. Mohamed Hamdhan Fahumy- Shareholder

14. Mr. Adam Athif–Company Secretary
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Shareholders absent at the AGM

1. Mr. Ibrahim Naeem

2. Mr. Mohamed Shahudy

3. Mr. Hamid Yusuf

4. Mr. Ahmed Anwar

5. Mr. Nahid Idris
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sUmmarY OF ThE maJOr DECisiOns TaKEn 

aT ThE aGm

• Declaration of the final dividend for the year 2017

• Approval and adoption of the Annual Report
 for the year ended 31 December 2017

• Announcement of the directors retiring

• Appointment of the directors in place of those retiring

• Appointment and fixing of the external 
 and internal auditors for the year 2018

• Appointment of the chairman
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its policy of recruiting the most suitable 

and implementing continuous programs 

to develop, motivate and retain its 

talented and capable human resources. 

HDFC team comprised of 36 employees, 

where males are 20 females 16

hr PLanninG

HDFC focus on hiring the right 

person for the right position and also 

concentrate on the proper development 

and motivation of the personnel. HR 

Department, in consultation with 

other departments, forecasts the 

future manpower requirements. Then 

we meet such requirements through 

recruitment, talent development and 

succession planning. The objective of 

HDFC is to recruit dynamic people who 

are best suited for the particular job. 

HUMAN
RESOURCES

DEVELOPMENT
Our employees, our forte

With the Company’s business continuing to 

grow at a stable pace, the Human Resource 

function plays a crucial role in staffing 

and training the employees to sustain this 

growth. Digitization of the HR functions 

has enabled creation of an environment 

that fosters learning. We realise the 

importance of continuous learning 

and regular trainings are held covering 

business processes and procedures, 

customer service standards, underwriting 

process, collection, credit disbursals, 

and treasury functions.  We consider our 

employees as our most valuable assets 

and endeavour to help them realize their 

full potential. At HDFC, integrity and 

transparency are key values. These values 

are an integral part of the manner in which 

the employees conduct themselves. 

We believe that our best investment is in 

human resources, as the Company trusts 

that human resource is the strength on 

which the company’s performance and 

productivity are standing on. As human 

resources are one of the key success 

factors of the company, HDFC maintains 
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TraininG anD DEVELOPmEnT

In line to keep up with the pace of ever-changing business world with regard to altering 

business processes, embracing technological changes and meet up new compliance 

and regulatory requirements HDFC undertakes training and development plan for its 

employees and arranges in-house functional training sessions as well as sends them over 

for attending public training programs.  During the year, a total of 21 training programs 

were conducted with one 15 months full time study program training was offered.  

We believe that our best investment is in human 

resources, as the Company trusts that human 

resource is the strength on which the company’s 

performance and productivity are standing on

Number of in-house training 7

Local training 14  

overseas training 3
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PErFOrmanCE 

aPPraisaL anD 

rEWarD

All employees of the Company undergo 

a formal performance appraisal each 

year.  The performance appraisal helps to 

emphasize on the career growth of our 

employees and also helps to identify the 

training needs. This process ensures that the 

efforts and contributions of each employee 

are properly recognized and rewarded., 

The Human Resources department 

organizes skills development training. It 

carries out the performance evaluation 

program in each year.  HR department is 

responsible for ensuring compliance with 

the service rules and regulations. Beside 

the mandatory requirements directed 

by the law, the following benefits are 

applicable to all permanent employees.

• Annual incentive bonus 
based on performance

• Reward and recognition for 
employees’ hard work and 
dedication to the Company

• Contribution by the Company 
to the pension fund

• Staff loans including housing 
loans, personal  loans are 
provided at a subsidised rate

• Comprehensive medical scheme

• Professional Financial support 
by reimbursing membership 
fees of professional bodies

• Support for professional education 

• Special travel allowance for those 
who live in Villingili and Hulhumale’

hEaLTh, saFETY 

anD EmPLOYEE 

WELL-BEinG

Healthy employees are productive and 

sustainably engaged in their workplace. 

We always comply with internal workplace 

health and safety policies. At HDFC we are 

well equipped with fire extinguishers and 

basic first aid kit etc. In addition, we are 

coordinating with the Ministry of Defence 

and National Security and Red Crescent 

to carry out periodic fire drills to test the 

effectiveness of the fire safety system.

We have health insurance and hospitalization 

insurance coverage for all the employees. 

All our employees enjoy earned annual 

leave of 30 days and 30 days of sick/

casual leave. In addition, employees are 

eligible to option to encash 10 days out 

of their annual leave, where majority 

of the staff choose this option.

GriEVanCE 

At HDFC our employees are encouraged to 

come forward and inform about anything 

to the management, which are not aligned 

with the Core values of the Company. It 

is the policy of the company to handle 

employee complaints promptly and fairly.  

The management always entertains any kind 

of complaint or a state of dissatisfaction. 

The management has set principles and 

procedures for handling any kind of 

complaints of the employees. Complaints are 

handled strictly, and actions are taken based 

on the merits of the issues. The Company 

also have formed a Grievance Committee 

comprising of 2 local board directors.
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mechanism, as set out in the Policy, invites all 

employees to act responsibly to uphold the 

reputation of the Company. The Policy aims 

to ensure that serious concerns are properly 

raised and addressed and are recognized 

as an enabling factor in administering good 

governance practices.  This policy has been 

now adopted by the Board of Directors.

WhisTLE 

BLOWEr POLiCY

We are committed to adhere to the highest 

standards of ethical, moral and legal conduct 

of its business operations. To maintain these 

standards, the Company has implemented 

the Whistle Blower Policy (‘’the Policy’’), to 

provide an avenue for employees to report 

matters without the risk of subsequent 

victimization, discrimination or disadvantage. 

The Policy applies to all employees working 

for the Company. Pursuant to the Policy, 

the whistle blowers can raise concerns 

relating to matters such as breach of 

Company’s Code of Conduct, fraud, bribery, 

corruption, employee misconduct, illegality, 

misappropriation of Company’s funds/

assets etc. A whistle-blowing or reporting 
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CorPoraTe

SOCiAL
RESPONSiBiLiTY
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HDFC aims to positively influence the communities we work in. We are aware 

of our corporate social responsibility (CSR) towards enhancing the quality 

of life. Thus, we undertake comprehensive interventions through various 

initiatives in the realm of education, skill development of children and youth, 

and contribute to the nation’s development process and implementation.
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We would say that it would be fair to 

consider our whole business as a part of 

CSR as housing plays such a vital role in 

moulding the life-style of the community, 

particularly through the provision of housing 

finance for the low-income category who 

have less access to financial institutions.

• HDFC considers CSR as a part and 
parcel of the organization process, and 
therefore, strives to develop a sustainable 
existence for all stakeholder categories 
of the society through CSR initiatives.

• The CSR initiatives of HDFC goes 
beyond the natural obligation which 
cover under activities of ordinary 
course of business and aspire to 
attain the ultimate objective of CSR 
by being sensitive to societal needs.

• With proven expertise and 
professionalism in banking and 
finance, the Company mainly focus 
its CSR efforts towards economic 
development and growth of the 
individual and society at large.

• CSR initiatives of the Company will 
not in any way use for image building 
activities or to secure business for the 
Company and therefore, any form of 
advertising will not be encouraged.

 

As a responsible corporate citizen HDFC-

Maldives Inclusive Business Model is based 

on responsible financial inclusion strategy 

incorporating emerging best practices 

such complete transparency of pricing, 

terms and conditions of all financial 

products and product differentiation to 

benefit customers who are from low-to-

middle income segments of society.

 

Product design for inclusion began by 

defining market segments, maintaining 

a middle to low income orientation 

and augmenting such methods as 

Flexible Installment Plans (FLIP), Step-

Up Repayment Facility (SURF), and 

savings related loan products for the 

self-employed and prudential norms on 

fixed obligations to income ratio (FOIR) 

to eliminate over indebtedness.

 

The monitoring of compliance and 

implementation of key policy is carried 

out at all operational levels, including front 

office reception staff, loan appraisal by 

credit officers, loan approvals by credit 

committee, accounts, internal audit and human 

resources. The financial inclusion business 

plan, with environment and housing quality 

standards including low cost houses has 

been executed with special MIS support for 

oversight. Process management using critical 

path to deliver timely solutions to HDFC 

customers has assisted in the development 

of a zero-default tolerant business culture.

 

Responsible financial inclusion 

Strategy set out the following 

Strategic objectives: -

 
• Extend financial services to 

underserved segments

• Create income generation potential 
in the down-market segment

• Integrate micro and SME income 
support solutions to create a 
responsible credit culture

• Design customer-centric products 
to maximise the social benefit

• Contribute to the learning agenda 

in social performance

We take great care in 

all phases of our credit 

process to determine 

that clients have the 

capacity to repay 

without becoming 

over-indebted.
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aCCEss TO FinanCE 

The success of IFC’s Pilot Program 

using Performance Based Grant 

Initiatives for Access to Finance, is 

based on an inclusive business model 

with the following objectives:

• Expand financial services to 
underserved segments by developing 
a range of financial services available 
to lower-income products tailored to 
the needs of low-income customers.

• Going down-market with a clear 
strategy to manage risk though 
principles of customer protection.

• Widening the range of products, 
features and serves based on a 
customer-centric approach.

• Contribute to the learning agenda in 
social performance and improving 

customer’s financial literacy.

PrinCiPLEs anD 

PraCTiCE OF CLiEnT 

PrOTECTiOn 
 

Products and delivery channels 

are designed giving primacy 

to client characteristics.

 

PrEVEnTiOn OF 

OVEr-inDEBTEDnEss

We take great care in all phases of 

our credit process to determine that 

clients have the capacity to repay 

without becoming over-indebted.
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TransParEnCY

We communicate clear, sufficient and 

timely information in a manner and 

language clients can understand so that 

clients can make informed decisions. 

The need for transparent information on 

pricing terms and conditions of products 

is highlighted in our counselling service 

extended at every step of the process.

 

rEsPOnsiBLE

PriCinG

Pricing terms and conditions are set in a way 

that is affordable to clients while allowing 

our operations to be sustainable with 

positive real returns on housing finance.

 

Fair anD

rEsPECTFUL 

TrEaTmEnT OF 

CLiEnTs

We always treat our clients fairly and 

respectfully without compromise or 

discrimination. We have zero tolerance 

any malpractices or corruption as well 

as aggressive or abusive treatment of 

clients by staff, particularly during the loan 

processing and debt collection processes.

 

PriVaCY OF

CLiEnT DaTa

The privacy of individual client data is 

respected at all times in accordance with 

the laws and regulations of the Maldives. 

Such data will only be used for the purposes 

specified at the time the information is 

collected or as permitted by law, unless 

otherwise agreed with the client.

 

EnVirOnmEnT 

FriEnDLY LOan 

FinanCinG

We have incorporated sustainability 

principles into day-to-day activities of 

the Company. Our aim is  to ensure that 

the credits we extend to our customers 

are utilized for environmentally sound 

and sustainable purposes. HDFC 

complies with environmental standard 

while financing. Projects with likely 

adverse impact on the environment 

are strongly discouraged by the 

Company. As an environment responsive 

Financial Institution, we ensure that the 

borrower has the due environmental 

clearance certificate from the concerned 

authorities while granting facilities.  We 

also encourage our big borrowers to 

have solar panels in their project.

GEnDEr EQUaLiTY 

HDFC considers the responsibility for 

the protection of human rights, gender 

equality and women’s   empowerment. 

HDFC is successfully developing in 

bringing diversity in workforce in 

context of age, gender, ethnicity 

and locality. We attempt to strike a 

balance between male and female 

employees in the workforce although 

at times either the number may vary.
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imPrOVED in-hOUsE 

manaGEmEnT anD 

GrEEn PraCTiCEs

The Company has been maintaining a 

balanced initiative and supporting activity 

to contain things that may adversely affect 

the environment. HDFC encourages rational 

use of energy in the office and promotes 

the spirit of environment friendly action 

plans. Reduced utilization of electricity 

and minimum use of water and paper have 

become mandatory for the employees.

COmmUniTY 

ParTiCiPaTiOn

The primary purpose of HDFC’s CSR 

Philosophy is to make meaningful and 

measurable impact on the lives of 

economically, physically and socially 

challenged communities of the country 

by supporting initiatives aimed at 

creating conditions suitable for growth 

in these communities. In this regard, 

HDFC initiated and provided financial 

aid to Society of Health and Sciences 

and Care Society. The Care Society runs 

outreach programmes and mobilizes 

voluntary support to develop projects 

and to maintain and enhance service 

provision. SHE conducts selective research 

to assess and report on emergent health 

issues (especially the high incidence of 

thalassaemia). Care Society of Maldives is 

a non-governmental organization (NGO) 

who works for the benefit of persons 

with disabilities in the Maldives and other 

vulnerable groups. Care Society provides 

education and rehabilitation services 

and Community Based rehabilitation 

services for persons with disabilities.
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CrEDiT risK

Credit risk represents the potential financial 

loss as a consequence of a customer’s 

inability to honour the terms and conditions 

of the credit facility. The Company has a well 

laid out procedures, not only to appraise 

but also to regularly monitor credit risk. 

Regular reviews are carried out and risks 

identified are mitigated in a number of 

ways, which include, counselling, taking an 

additional guarantees from the borrower or 

third party.  In addition, the incomes of the 

borrowers are discounted. Therefore, credit 

policies are stated to fulfill the requirements 

risK
maNagemeNT

under prudential due-diligence to establish 

customer’s credit worthiness. Strong 

credit sanctioning policy are given by the 

Board of Directors with limited authority 

imposed for processing applications. An 

internal grading system and review process 

ensures prompt identification of any 

deterioration in credit risk and consequent 

implementation of corrective action. HDFC 

applies rigorous standards for provisioning 

and monitoring of non- performing loans. 

Adequate provisions are carried to guard 

against inherent risks in the portfolio.

The Company’s risk management process encompasses 

the various dimensions of risk as follows:

As a housing finance Company, HDFC is exposed to 

various risks like credit risk, market risk (interest rate 

and currency risk), liquidity risk and operational risk 

(technology, employee, transaction and reputation risk). 

To identify and mitigate these risks the Company has an 

effective Risk Management Control Framework that has 

been developed encompassing all the above areas. 
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HDFC ensures that the collateral 

accepted for risk mitigation purposes 

is of high quality and supported by 

legally effective and enforceable 

documentation. When determining 

security, the Company will be guided by: 

• Whether the ownership and the title 
to the security is acceptable without 
any defects or other encumbrances 
with stable minimum value and 
required margin of security in favour 
of the HDFC to support the borrowing 
through the period of repayment.

• Whether the security can be realised 
without any difficulties to recover 

our dues fully in an eventuality.

The Company’s board has constituted a 

credit risk management committee with 

three non-executive directors to oversee 

all risk issues and ensure authorities are 

properly structured. The compliance 

audit also plays an integral role in 

evaluating the accuracy of the calculations 

done by the credit department.  

FUnDinG anD 

LiQUiDiTY risK

Funding and liquidity risk 

management has two dimensions:

• Liquidity risk management focuses 
on having a sufficient buffer to cope 
with a short-term situations.

• Funding risk management ensures 
long-term compliance with both 
internal and external goals.

Managing funding and liquidity risk focuses 

both on “business as usual” (based on 

the run-off profile to show the stickiness 

of deposits combined with the run-off 

of assets without new production) on a 

stressed situation. For liquidity risk, the 

Company focuses the time to survive 

under cash flow projections, while for 

funding risk we focus on having a stable 

funding profile. HDFC seeks to manage 

liquidity risk across all classes of assets and 
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liabilities to ensure that even under adverse 

conditions; we have access to funds at a 

reasonable cost. Ultimate responsibility 

for liquidity management lies with the 

Asset Liability Committee (ALCO), with 

Treasury managing the liquidity and funding 

needs of the Company on a daily basis. 

We raise funds locally or internationally, 

mostly through from borrowings and 

issuance of debt instruments.

At HDFC the key elements in managing 

liquidity risk are in tapping available sources 

of liquidity in the local market, preserving 

necessary funding capacity, and continuous 

contingency planning. Liquidity targets 

are maintained to ensure that even under 

adverse conditions; funds are available to 

cover customer needs, maturing liabilities, 

and other funding requirements.

LEGaL risKs

Legal risk arises from failure to comply 

with statutory and regulatory regulations, 

uncertainty of the outcome of all litigation 

and probable adverse consequences 

resulting from deficient documentation. 

We manage these legal risks effectively 

through our legal counsel where all 

contracts and security documentation are 

legally vetted taking into consideration 

the applicable laws and regulations. 

iT- sECUriTY risK

Information is a valuable asset and 

information pertaining to customers is 

also a great responsibility. Safeguarding 

business information and IT Infrastructure 

from any kind of cyber security threat is 

a top priority and this is done through 

effective monitoring and implementation 

of risk mitigation measures. 

In HDFC, IT infrastructure and software 

systems are being governed, closely 

monitored and upgraded with the changes 

of technology trends and business needs as 

well as for the improvement of operational 

efficiency.  Data protection and cyber security 

is of highest importance to us. We have 

appropriate control system for Cyber security 

which is regularly monitored. IT policies has 

been formulated and Standard Operating 

procedures are also in place. Our business 

continuity and Disaster Recovery Plan ensures 

that critical business functions are available 

even if the environment has completely 

failed. Backup and restore policy have been 

implemented to safeguard critical data.

HDFC has taken cover from the insurance 

providers as one of the risk mitigation 

strategies for high severity, low probability 

and the uncontrollable operational risk 

events such as natural disasters, fire 

as well as internal and external frauds, 

errors, omissions, fidelity etcetera.

inTErnaL 

COnTrOLs
 

Internal controls include the policies and 

procedures that financial institutions 

establish to reduce risks and ensure they 

meet operating, reporting, and compliance 

70



ANNUAL
REPORT

2 0 1 8

objectives of the Company. The 

Company’s internal controls programs 

are designed to ensure it operate 

effectively, safeguard assets, produce 

reliable financial records and comply with 

the applicable laws and regulations.

 

The Internal Control System (ICS) of HDFC 

consists of a set of rules, procedures and 

organizational structures which aim to: 

 
• ensure that corporate 

strategy is implemented

• achieve effective and efficient 
corporate processes

• safeguard the value of corporate assets

• ensure the reliability and integrity of 
accounting and management data

• ensure that operations comply with 
all existing rules and regulations.

 

At HDFC, to minimize risk, two statutory 

audits are undertaken in addition to 

four internal audits conducted yearly. In 

addition Maldives Monetary Authority 

conducts Supervisory Audit to assure 

regulatory and statutory compliance 

which guides the Company to update 

to the industry’s best practice.

71

 

internal audit

KPMG was appointed as the Company’s 

internal auditor for 2018. The key 

responsibility is to guide, approve and 

review Internal Audit Plan, Internal 

Audit Process and Procedure, ensuring 

compliance on audit recommendation(s) 

and scope of development, compliance 

status of audit recommendation, quarterly 

assessment of the performance of audit and 

inspection activity and the efficiency and 

effectiveness of internal audit function.

External Audit

PWC was appointed as the Company’s 

external auditor for 2018.  The key 

responsibility of the auditor is to 

provide reasonable assurance that 

the financial statements are free from 

material misstatements and prepared 

according to the accounting standards.  

The Audit Committee expresses its 

sincere thanks and gratitude to the 

Auditors for their excellent support to 

the Committee when they carried out 

their duties and responsibilities.

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
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The fast and stable growth of Islamic Finance during the last few years 

indicate the inherent strength of Islamic Finance as a challenging 

alternative to the interest based capitalistic financial system. The 

establishment of the HDFC- Amna in 2012, gave an accelerating 

momentum to the Islamic Finance products in the Maldives. 

HDFC Amna has initiated the development of adequate processes, 

methodologies and tools to identify and monitor the positive impact of our 

financing products. This requires a paradigm shift in our business practices 

particularly in our screening process that not only considers Shariah 

aspects but considers the consequences of our financing to today’s 

society, and subsequently our future generation. HDFC continues to 

embrace the client-centred culture that preserves long-term relationships 

with our customers. Moving forward, we will also encourage greater 

transparency among our clients in disclosing their business impact on 

community wellbeing, sustainable environment and economic growth.

HDfC- AMNA

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

AMNA Portfolio
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The Board of Directors recognize the excellent work of the Shariah 

Committee comprising of and Shariah Advisory Committee comprising 

of the well-respected scholars Dr. Ibrahim Zakariyya Moosa (Chairman) 

Dr. Rusni Hussein and Dr. Aishath Muneeza who continued to work 

tirelessly to ensure HDFC’s Amna products adhere to Islamic principles, 

supported by a hard working Amna team within the Company.
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Independent auditor’s report  

To the Shareholders of Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc 

 

Our opinion  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc (“the Company”) as at December 31, 

2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

What we have audited 

The financial statements of the Company, which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018; 

 the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 

for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.  

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 



ANNUAL

REPORT

2 0 1 8

 

2 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit 

matter 

Impairment of loans and advances                              

Refer to Note 16 of the financial statements. 

 

Specific work that we performed on the loss 

allowance on loans and advances recognised by 

management included the following;  

As at 31 December 2018, 92.3% of the total 

assets of the Company consisted of loans and 

advances amounting to MVR 1.6 billion shown 

net of loss allowance of MVR 26.2 million.  
 

The loss allowance in respect of loans and 

advances represent management’s best 

estimate of the impairment loss incurred and 

expected within the loan portfolio at the 

reporting date.  

 

The loss allowance had been calculated using 

statistical methods and historical collection 

trends adjusted for forward-looking 

information. Significant estimates and 

assumptions used by the management in such 

calculations and the basis for impairment 

allowance is disclosed in Note 29.1. 

- Tested the completeness of the loans and advances 

considered in the loan loss calculation by checking 

the mathematical accuracy of the listing obtained 

and matched the outstanding balances with the 

general ledger.                                                                           

- Assessed the reasonableness of management’s 

estimated future recoveries of individual customer 

loans and advances including the expected future 

cash flows, discount rates and valuation of collateral 

held by testing the key underlying assumptions and 

evaluating the process by which those were drawn 

up. 

- Tested the accuracy and completeness of underlying 
information in loans and advances used in the 
expected loan loss allowance calculation, such as 
disbursed and undisbursed loan amounts, deposits, 
values of the collateral, aging and loan tenure periods 
by agreeing details with the respective customer 
statements and files on a sample basis. 
 
- Tested the methodology applied in the loan loss 
allowance calculation by checking compliance with 
the requirements of IFRS 9, Financial instruments; 
recognition and measurement, and also considered 
reasonableness of macro-economic and other factors 
used by the management by comparing them with 
publicly available data and information sources. 

The impact on transition to IFRS 9 on 

recognition of expected credit loss to the 

Company’s financial statements has been 

quantified and presented separately in Note 

2.2 of the financial statements. 

  - Assessed the adequacy of the related financial 

statement disclosures as set out on Notes 2.2, 16 and 

29.1 for compliance with required IFRS 9 disclosures.   

We have identified expected credit loss 

allowance for loans and advances as a key 

audit matter as the calculation of loan loss 

allowance is a complex area and requires 

management to make significant assumptions 

and judgements. 
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Other information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual 

report for the year ended 31 December 2018 (but does not include the financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon) which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ 

report.    
 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.  

 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 

are required to communicate the matter to the Board. 

 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
financial statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 

Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these financial statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

3 
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

1 General information

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation 

2.2

9

This financial report for the year ended 31 December 2018 has been prepared in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention whereby the transactions are recorded at the values prevailing on

the dates when the assets were acquired, the liabilities were incurred or the capital obtained.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for

the adoption of new and amended standards as set out in Note 4.

In the process of applying HDFC's accounting policies, management has used its judgements and

made estimates in determining the amount recognised in the financial statements. The most

significant use of judgement and estimates are set out in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

HDFC has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January

2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously

recognised in the financial statements. HDFC did not early adopt any of IFRS in previous periods. 

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, HDFC elected not to restate comparative

figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of

transition were recognised in the opening retained earnings of the current period. Consequently, for

notes disclosure, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also only been applied to

the current period. The comparative period notes disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the

prior year.

Housing Development Finance Corporation PLC (HDFC) is engaged in the business of granting

housing loans for residential and commercial purpose. The registered office is situated at 4th Floor,

H. Mialani, Sosun Magu, Male', Republic of Maldives.

HDFC is a limited liability company and is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Maldives. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition,

classification and measurement of financial asssets and liabilities and impairment of financial assets.

IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7

"Financial instruments: Disclosures".

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 of HDFC. Further

details of the specific IFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current period ( as well as the

previous IAS 39 accounting policies applied in the comparative period) are described in more detail

in section 2.3 below. 
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2.2

Carrying 

amount

Carrying 

amount

Cash and cash 

equivalents      135,525,548      135,525,548 

Financial assets 

held to maturity        29,959,834        29,959,834 

Loans and 

advances   1,410,515,498   1,404,660,700 

IAS 39 carrying 

amount 31 

December 2017 

Amortised cost

         135,525,548 

           29,959,834 

10

Amortised cost (Loans and 

receivables) Amortised cost

Amortised cost (Held to 

maturity) Amortised cost

Amortised cost (Loans and 

receivables) Amortised cost

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(a) classification and measurement of financial instruments

The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in accordance

with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 are compared as follows:

Financial assets

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Measurement category
Measurement 

category

 Remeasurements 
IFRS 9 carrying 

amount 1 January 

2018

Cash and cash equivalents

Opening balance under IAS 

39 and closing balance under 

IFRS 9
                             -                135,525,548 

There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.

(b) Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 

HDFC performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets and

analysis of their cash flow characteristics.

Please refer to the note 2.3.1 for more detailed information regarding the new classification

requirements of IFRS 9.

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets, from their previous

measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to their new measurement categories upon

transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018: 

Financial assets held to 

maturity

Opening balance under IAS 

39 and closing balance under 

IFRS 9

                             -                  29,959,834 
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2.2

IAS 39 carrying 

amount 31 

December 2017 

Amortised cost

      1,410,515,498 

Measurement 

category

Loan loss 

allowance under 

IAS 39/ Provision 

under IAS 37

        28,581,371       4,918,633 

                       -            936,165 

2.3

11

Remeasurement : ECL 

allowance
              (5,854,798)

Closing balance under IFRS 9           1,404,660,700 

The total remeasurement loss of MVR 5,854,798 was recognised in opening retained earnings at 1

January 2018. 

Loans and advances

Opening balance under IAS 

39

 Remeasurements 
IFRS 9 carrying 

amount 1 January 

2018

(b) Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Loans and advances            33,500,004 

Loan commitments

Loans and advances                 936,165 

(c) Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The following table reconciles the prior period's closing impairment allowance measured in

accordance with IAS 39 incurred loss model to the new impairment allowance measured in

accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018:

 Remeasurements 
Loan loss provision 

under IFRS 9

Loans and receivables ( IAS 39) / financial assets at amortised cost (IFRS 9) 

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at

initial recognition minus the principle repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using

effective interest rate method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount

and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Further information on the measurement of the impairment allowance under IFRS 9 can be found in

note 29.1.2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

This note sets out the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial

statements.

2.3.1 Financial assets and liabilities

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2.3

Interest income

12

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a

financial asset ( i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance ) or to the amortised cost of a

financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and, the loan processing

fees since the amount is immaterial.

When HDFC revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective

financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the

original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of

financial assets, except for the financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired ( or

stage 3'), for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their

amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision).

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when HDFC becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are

recognised on trade-date, the date on which HDFC commits purchase or sell the asset.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.3.1 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Measurement methods (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (continued)

At initial recognition, HDFC measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or

minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss,

transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the

financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Immediately after initial

recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets measured at

amortised cost, as described in note 2.3.1.1, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in

profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial

recognition, the entity recognises the difference as follows:

(a) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or

liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable

markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss.

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one

profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred

until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised

through settlement.
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2.3

(i)     HDFC's business model for managing the asset; and

(ii)    the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

(ii) Impairment

13

2.3.1.1 Financial assets

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

From 1 January 2018, HDFC has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets at amortised cost.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

HDFC assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses ('ECL') associated with its debt

instrument assets carried at amortised cost with the exposure arising from loan commitments. HDFC

recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects

an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible

outcomes;

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, HDFC assesses

whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the

`SPPI test'). In making this assessment, HDFC considers whether the contractual cash flows are

consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time

value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a

basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that

are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and

measured at fair value through profit or loss.

HDFC reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those

assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following

the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period. 

Business model: the business model reflects how HDFC manages the assets in order to generate cash

flows. HDFC's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets. Factors

considered by HDFC in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience

on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and

reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed.

The classification requirements for debt instruments are described below:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the

issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds. 

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:                                                

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows

represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL, are

measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit

loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 29.1.2. Interest income from these

financial assets is included in 'Interest and similar income' using the effective interest rate method.
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2.3

14

(i) The time value for money; and 

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3.1.1 Financial assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment (continued)

• Significant change in the interest rate.
• Insertation of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, HDFC derecognises the original financial asset and recognises
a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of
renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment
calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred. However, HDFC also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is
deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the
renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments.
Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on
derecognition.

(ii) Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

Note 29.1.2  provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

(iii) Modification of loans

HDFC sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to
customers. When this happens, HDFC assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially
different to the original terms. HDFC does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

• If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual
cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
• Significant extension of loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty. 

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in
derecognition, and HDFC recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of
the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying
amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate. 

(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) HDFC transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership, or (ii) HDFC neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership and HDFC has not retained the control.
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HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2.3

2.4

(a) Functional and presentation currency

15

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ii) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified

in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired).

The exchange between HDFC and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different

terms, as well as substantial modification of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted

for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial

liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under

the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original

effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining

cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the

currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion

features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an

exchange of debt instruments or modification of term is accounted for as an extinguishment, any

costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange

or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the

carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

2.3.1.2 Financial liabilities

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement 

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at

amortised cost except for loan commitments (Note 2.3.2).

2.3.2 Loan commitments

Loan commitments provided by HDFC are measured as the amount of the loss allowance ( calculated

as described in note 29.1.3). HDFC has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below

market interest rate, or that can be settled in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial

instrument.

For loan commitments, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision. However, for contracts that

include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and HDFC cannot separately identify the expected

credit loss on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the expected

credit loss on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan.

To the extent that the combined expected credit loss exceeds the gross carrying amount of the loan,

the expected credit losses are recognised as a provision.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statemements are measured using the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). These financial

statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is HDFC's functional and presentation

currency.
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2.4

(b) Transactions and balances

2.5

2.6

2.7

Leasehold improvements  - 10 years

Furniture and fixture -

Computer equipment -

Motor vehicles -

-

16

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates

prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are items which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and

which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include all

bank placements with original maturities of less than three months. Funds restricted for a period of

more than three months on origination are excluded from cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash

equivalents are carried at amortised cost. 

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of

financial position if, and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously. The legal enforceable right must not be contingent on the future events and must be

enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

HDFC or the counter party.  

Property, plant and equipment

Foreign currency translation (continued)

4 years

Office equipment 3 - 8 years

The charge for the depreciation commences from the date on which the assets are available for use.

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow

to the HDFC and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are

charged to other operating expenses during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

5 years

5 years
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2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

17

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

reporting date. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s

carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, if the asset’s carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the

asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These

are included in other operating income or other operating expenses, as the case may be, in the income

statement.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to

be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which

termination takes place.

Debt securities in issue

Debt securities in issue include bonds and sukuk issued by HDFC. Debt securities are stated at

amortised cost. If HDFC purchases its own debt securities in issue, they are removed from the

statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the

consideration paid is included in gains arising from early retirement of debt.

The obligation to make future payments of principal and interest to bondholders is carried at

amortised cost until extinguished on maturity of the bonds. 

Other borrowed funds

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are

subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)

and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings

using the effective interest method.

Intangible assets

Costs associated with software are capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method over

estimated useful life of four years. The carrying amount of intangible asset is reviewed annually and

adjusted for permanent impairment where it is considered necessary. All other costs associated with

computer software, e.g. its maintenance, are expensed when incurred.

Operating leases

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the

lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the

operating expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16 Share capital

2.17 Dividends

18

Other borrowed funds (continued)

Derivative financial instruments, including currency swaps are carried at their fair value.

All derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive, and as liabilities when fair

value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are included in profit or loss for

the year (gains less losses on derivates).

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They

are accrued when HDFC has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

Trade and other payables

Fees paid on the establishment of the loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to

the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is

deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some

or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is captalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services

and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the

contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a

financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration

paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the statement

of comprehensive income as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless HDFC has an unconditional right to defer the

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Customer accounts

Customer accounts are non-derivative liabilities to individuals, state or corporate customers and are

carried at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations under the contract

and are carried at amortised cost.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the 

HDFC's shareholders.
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2.18 Fiduciary activities

2.19

2.20

19

Current and deferred business profit tax

The tax expenses for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income

statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. 

The current business profit tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in

tax computation with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to

interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 

to the tax authorities.

The provisions for business profit tax is based on the elements of income and expenditure as reported

in the Financial Statements and computed in accordance with the provisions of the Business Profit

Tax Act. 

HDFC is liable to business profit tax at rate of 15%, if the taxable profit of the year exceeds MVR

500,000.

HDFC commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing

of assets on behalf of Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure (MHI). These assets and income arising

thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the HDFC.

Deferred business profit tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences

arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial

statements. However deferred business profit tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time

of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred business profit tax is

determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date

and are expected to apply when the related deferred business profit tax asset is realised or the

deferred business profit tax liability is settled.

Deferred business profit tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred business profit tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to

offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred business profit tax assets

and liabilities relate to business profit tax levied by the same taxation authority. Current tax assets

and tax liabilities are offset where HDFC has a legally enforceable right to offset and intend either to

settle on a net basis, or to reduce the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fees, commissions and other income and expenses

Fees, commissions and other income and expenses items are generally recorded on an accrual basis

by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service

provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. 
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2.22 Segment reporting

2.23 Comparatives

20

Segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the board of

Directors of HDFC. Segments whose revenue results or assets are ten percent or more of all the

segments are reported separately.

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in

the current period. 

Wages, salaries, contributions to the Maldives Government pension funds, paid annual leave and sick

leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services

are rendered by the employees of HDFC. HDFC has no legal or constructive obligation to make

pension or similar benefit payments beyond the payments to the statutory defined contribution

scheme.
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2.24 Presentation of statement of financial position in order of liquidity

Within 12 months 

of the reporting 

period

After 12 months of 

the reporting period

 Total Within 12 months 

of the reporting 

period

After 12 months of 

the reporting period

 Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents              91,653,575                               -             91,653,575            135,525,548                               -          135,525,548 

Financial assets at amortised cost              29,976,096                               -             29,976,096              29,959,834                               -            29,959,834 

Loans and advances            210,577,567         1,406,801,129        1,617,378,696            122,027,588         1,288,487,910       1,410,515,498 

Property, plant and equipment                               -                1,324,053               1,324,053                               -                1,221,874              1,221,874 

Intangible assets                               -                   621,847                  621,847                               -                   385,118                 385,118 

Deferred business profit tax assets                3,125,228                               -               3,125,228                3,450,871                               -              3,450,871 

Other assets                1,780,826                5,575,479               7,356,305                1,048,740                6,819,206              7,867,946 

Total assets            337,113,292         1,414,322,508        1,751,435,800            292,012,581         1,296,914,108       1,588,926,689 

Liabilities

Deposits from customers                               -              82,423,308             82,423,308                               -              68,435,976            68,435,976 

Debt securities in issue                8,865,375            210,113,962           218,979,337              37,802,938            111,602,000          149,404,938 

Other borrowed funds            170,040,277            467,825,373           637,865,650            204,818,894            468,041,620          672,860,514 

Other liabilities              59,412,596            228,608,264           288,020,860              55,570,179            172,363,564          227,933,743 

Current tax liabilities                8,371,271                               -               8,371,271                7,812,821                               -              7,812,821 

Total liabilities            246,689,519            988,970,907        1,235,660,426            306,004,832            820,443,160       1,126,447,992 

21

Amounts expected to be recovered or 

settled

Amounts expected to be recovered or 

settled

31 December 2018

HDFC does not have a clearly identifiable operating cycle and therefore does not present current and non-current assets and liabilities separately in

the statement of financial position. Instead, analysis of assets and liabilities by their expected maturities is presented in Note 29.2.2.

The following table provides information on amounts expected to be recovered or settled before and after twelve months of the reporting period.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
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3

3.1 Impairment losses on loans and advances

- determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk; and

- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL.

3.2 Deferred tax asset recognition

3.3 Useful life time of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

22

31 December 2018

Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

HDFC makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial

statements, and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience

and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving

estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and estimates that can

cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year include: 

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at

amortised cost is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions

about future economic conditions and credit behaviour. Explanation of the inputs, assumptions

and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 29.1.2, which also

sets out key sensitivities of the ECL to changes in these elements.

A number of siginificant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements

for measuring ECL, such as;

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by HDFC in the above areas is

set out in the note 29.1.2.

The recognised deferred tax asset represents business profit taxes recoverable through future

deductions from taxable profits, and is recorded in the statement of financial position. Deferred

tax assets are recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. 

The future taxable profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future are based

on a medium term business plan prepared by management and extrapolated results thereafter.

The business plan is based on management expectations that are believed to be reasonable under

the circumstances.

HDFC reviews the residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation and amortisation of

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at each reporting date. Judgment of the

management is exercised in the estimation of these values, rates, methods and hence they are

subject to uncertainty.
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4

23

The following amendments to the International Accounting Standards that are relevant for the

preparation of the financial statements have been adopted by HDFC for the first time with effect

from financial year beginning on 1 January 2018.

Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations

(a) New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations adopted in 2018

- IFRS 9- Financial instruments

- IFRS 15- Revenue from contracts with customers

- Annual improvements 2014-2016 cycle

- Interpretation 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

HDFC had to change its accounting policies and make certain adjustments following the

adoption of IFRS 9. This is disclosed in Note 2. Most of the other amendments listed above did

not have any impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods and are not expected to

significantly affect the current or future periods.

- Interpretation 23 - Uncertainity over income tax treatment.

IFRS 15 is effective from 1 January 2018. This standard defines principles for recognising
revenue and are applicable to all contracts with customers. However, interest and fee income

integral to financial instruments and leases continue to fall outside the scope of IFRS 15 and are
regulated by the other applicable standards (e.g. IFRS 9 and IFRS 16).

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Revenue under IFRS 15 requires to be recognised as goods and services are

transferred, to the extent that the transferor anticipates entitlement to goods and services. The

standard also specify a comprehensive set of disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent

and timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue and corresponding cash flows from customers.

An evaluation of relevant existing contracts, which fall mainly under fee and commission based

income, had been performed by HDFC in relation to the adoption of IFRS 15. This assessment

did not reveal any significant change to HDFC’s revenue recognition pattern. However, HDFC
continues to evaluate and quantify the accounting impact and will modify its systems and

processes if necessary.
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4 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations (continued)

24

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory

for 31 December 2018 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by HDFC.

- IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the

statement of financial position by lessees, as the distinction between operating and finance leases

is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial

liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

HDFC will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. HDFC

intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for

the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property leases will be measured on

transition at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued

lease expenses). HDFC has taken an office premise in Male`which is on lease. HDFC is in the

process of evaluating the impact and it is not expected to have material impact.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a

material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet adopted



ANNUAL

REPORT

2 0 1 8

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements continued

(all amounts are shown in Maldivian Rufiyaa unless otherwise stated) 

5 Net interest income

2018 2017

Interest income

Housing loans           140,344,524                  130,696,265 

Treasury bills / other deposits with banks               1,065,124                         537,778 
          141,409,648                  131,234,043 

Interest expense

Other borrowed funds             40,626,443                    38,450,982 

              4,576,593                      1,875,641 

              1,098,877                      1,084,502 
            46,301,913                    41,411,125 

Net interest income             95,107,735                    89,822,918 

6 Net income on Shari'ah products

2018 2017

Revenue from housing facilities             40,133,888                    33,050,608 

Revenue from short term investments               1,069,364                           58,266 

Fee income               2,524,840                      1,790,461 

Amna investors' profit share           (18,643,578)                  (12,318,855)
            25,084,514                    22,580,480 

7 Fee income

2018 2017

Housing loan processing fees               1,786,147                      1,933,175 

Other fee income                  978,427                      1,214,850 

Management fees               2,249,170                         547,330 
              5,013,744                      3,695,355 

25                                        

Other fee income includes SWAP commitment fees and other miscellaneous incomes such as

documentation fees and printing charges.

Debt securities in issue

Deposits from customers

SWAP commitment fees are computed on a daily basis on the outstanding US$ balance committed to

be sold back by State Trading Organisation Plc. The fee percentage is stipulated in the respective

SWAP agreements.

In the second SWAP agreements signed in 2011, the commitment fees, as stipulated in the agreement,

was 3% per annum.
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8 Other income 

2018 2017
Penalty interest and early interest settlement charges                  724,865                      2,207,101 

Insurance commissions                  375,978                         350,348 

Recovery of professional development expenses                              -                         851,726 
              1,100,843                      3,409,175 

9 Salaries and personnel expenses

2018 2017

Salaries and allowances               8,348,445                      7,668,667 

Ramadan allowances and bonus                  821,870                         727,889 

Contribution to employees pension fund                  364,056                         332,815 

Employee benefit expense amortisation                  278,204                           97,941 

Staff medical insurance                  143,903                           79,158 

               9,956,478                      8,906,470 

10 Provision for loan impairment

2018 2017

Provision (reversed)/ made during the year (Note 16)             (8,226,277)                    10,576,163 

11 Other operating expenses

2018 2017

Other expenses               2,298,462                      2,183,078 

Professional fees               1,611,411                         963,923 

Premises, equipment and establishment expenses               1,387,945                      1,128,470 

Board remuneration and meeting expenses               1,080,224                         791,165 

Bank charges                  534,677                         309,828 

                 449,492                         464,924 
Communication expenses                  300,906                         310,069 

Advertising and marketing expenses                  231,261                         274,798 

Amortization on intangible assets (Note 20)                  174,147                           71,793 

Printing and stationary expenses                  172,962                         180,550 

Loss on disposal                    72,624                           52,047 
              8,314,111                      6,730,645 

12 Taxation

2018 2017 

Current tax             16,941,656                    15,506,981 

Deferred tax (Note 18)                  325,643                    (3,399,440)

Business profit tax expense             17,267,299                    12,107,541 

26                                        

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 19)
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12 Taxation (continued)

Reconciliations between business profit tax expenses and the accounting profit :

2018 2017

Profit before tax           116,262,524                    93,294,650 

Add: Non-deductible expenses             67,462,908                    65,945,158 

Adjusted net profit for the year           183,725,432                  159,239,808 

Less: Deductible expenses           (74,852,379)                  (55,359,937)

Taxable profit           108,873,053                  103,879,871 

Tax allowance                (500,000)                       (500,000)

Taxable profit after tax allowance           108,373,053                  103,379,871 

Current tax (15%)             16,255,958                    15,506,981 

Prior year adjustments                  685,698                                    - 

Total current tax             16,941,656                    15,506,981 

Deferred tax                  325,643                    (3,399,440)

Business profit tax expense             17,267,299                    12,107,541 

Current tax liabilities

2018 2017

As at 1 January 7,812,821             7,902,742                    

Provisions during the year 16,255,958           15,506,981                  

Prior year adjustments 685,698                -                                   

Payments made during the year (16,383,206)          15,596,902                  

As at 31 December 8,371,271             7,812,821                    

13 Dividends

14 Earnings per share

27                                        

Dividend of MVR 22 per share amounting to MVR 35,062,500 was declared for the year ended 31

December 2017 in the board meeting held on 5 November 2017. Dividend amounting MVR 25 per

share totalling to MVR 39,843,750 was declared for the year December 2018 in the board meeting

held on 29 November 2018.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted Earnings Per Share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders

of HDFC by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the

weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive

potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. As there were no potential ordinary equity outstanding

at year end, Diluted Earnings Per Share is equal to the Basic Earnings per Share for the year.
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14 Earnings per share (continued)

2018 2017

            98,995,225                    81,187,109 

              1,593,750                      1,593,750 
                     62.11                             50.94 

15 Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017

Cash on hand                      9,500                             9,500 

Balances with other banks             76,644,075                    68,516,048 

Short term investments with MIB             15,000,000                    67,000,000 

            91,653,575                  135,525,548 

16 Housing loans

2018 2017

Housing loans to customers        1,252,647,892               1,137,133,718 

Housing loans to staff               6,613,752                      5,663,292 
Amna assets           384,326,943                  296,299,857 

       1,643,588,587               1,439,096,867 

Less: Provision for impairment           (26,209,891)                  (28,581,369)

Net housing loans        1,617,378,696               1,410,515,498 

Movements in provision for impairment are as follows:

2018 2017

Provision for impairment

Opening balance 28,581,371           18,005,208                  

Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 5,854,798             -                                   

(8,226,277)            10,576,163                  

Closing balance 26,209,891           28,581,371                  

28                                        

Net profit attributable to shareholders

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

Earnings per share - basic / diluted (MVR)

Cash and cash equivalents include the above for the purposes of the statement of cash flows. All the

bank balances are maintained at the banks / branches located in Maldives. The banks in Maldives have

not been rated.

Short term investments with MIB are for a period of 3 months and are entitled for a profit share which

has ranged between 1.5% to 3.5% per annnum.

Provision (reversed)/ made during the  year ( Note 10)

There were no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the

reporting date and the date of the completion of these financial statements which would require the

restatement of earnings per share.
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17 Financial assets at amortised cost

2018 2017

Investments in Treasury bills 29,976,096           29,959,834                  

18 Deferred business profit tax assets

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets               3,125,228                      3,461,266 

Deferred tax liabilities                              -                         (10,395)

Net deferred tax asset               3,125,228                      3,450,871 

2018 2017

Opening balance               3,450,871                           51,431 

               (325,643)                      3,399,440 

Closing balance               3,125,228                      3,450,871 

2018 2017

Temporary difference on PPE                  131,225                         (69,297)

            20,703,625                    23,075,103 

            20,834,850                    23,005,806 

Tax rate 15% 15%

Net deferred tax asset               3,125,228                      3,450,871 

The balance comprises the following temporary differences.

2018 2017

Property plant and equipment

Opening balance (10,395)                 51,431                         

Credit / (debit) to the income statement 30,079                  (61,826)                        

Closing balance                    19,684                         (10,395)

Opening balance               3,461,266                                    - 

(Debit) / credit to the income statement                (355,722)                      3,461,266 

Closing balance               3,105,544                      3,461,266 

Net deferred tax asset               3,125,228                      3,450,871 

29                                        

Provision for loan impairment

Deferred business profit tax is calculated on all difference under the liability method. The movement

in deferred business profit tax asset account is as follows:

(Debit) / credit to the income statement

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities of HDFC during the year ended are as follows:

Treasury bills amounting MVR 19,988,528 and MVR 9,987,568 will mature on 7 and 14 January 2019

respectively and carry an interest rate of 3.5% per annum.

Temporary difference on provisions for loan impairment
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19 Property, plant and equipment

     Office Computer Furniture Motor  Leasehold Total

equipment equipment  and fixtures vehicles improvements

Year ended 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount 327,972               518,599               193,215               16,562                 217,567               1,273,915            

Additions 151,854               245,222               67,854                 -                           -                           464,930               

Depreciation charge (Note 11) (79,367)                (198,873)              (70,267)                (16,562)                (99,855)                (464,924)              
Disposals

- Cost (151,516)              (377,015)              (81,223)                -                           (91,196)                (700,950)              

- Accumulated depreciation 130,028               377,015               81,223                 -                           60,637                 648,903               
Balance as at 31 December 2017 378,971               564,948               190,802               -                           87,153                 1,221,874            

At 31 December 2017

Cost 901,412               2,438,291            774,864               66,250                 914,948               5,095,765            

Accumulated depreciation (522,441)              (1,873,343)           (584,062)              (66,250)                (827,795)              (3,873,891)           

Net book amount 378,971               564,948               190,802               -                           87,153                 1,221,874            

Year ended 31 December 2018

Opening net book amount 378,971               564,948               190,802               -                           87,153                 1,221,874            

Additions 39,519                 437,336               148,680               -                           -                           625,535               

Depreciation charge (Note 11) (81,483)                (239,442)              (71,458)                -                           (57,109)                (449,492)              

Disposals -                           

- Cost (100,528)              (114,188)              (101,998)              -                           (82,846)                (399,560)              

- Accumulated depreciation 84,341                 99,557                 86,843                 -                           54,955                 325,696               
Balance as at 31 December 2018 320,820               748,211               252,869               -                           2,153                    1,324,053            

At 31 December 2018

Cost 840,403               2,761,439            821,546               66,250                 832,102               5,321,740            

Accumulated depreciation (519,583)              (2,013,228)           (568,677)              (66,250)                (829,949)              (3,997,687)           
Net book amount 320,820               748,211               252,869               -                           2,153                    1,324,053            

30

a) HDFC operates business from the premises owned by third parties  for which MVR 998,575 (December 2017: MVR 600,000) were paid as rent during the year. 

b) Property, plant and equipment aggregating to MVR 3,713,474 (December 2017: MVR 3,001,951) were fully depreciated as at the reporting date.
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20 Intangible assets

Software costs

Year ended 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount                             2,615 

Additions                         454,296 

Amortisation charge (Note 11)                         (71,793)
Closing net book amount                         385,118 

At 31 December 2017

Cost                      1,198,510 

Accumulated amortisation                       (813,392)

Net book amount                         385,118 

Year ended 31 December 2018

Opening net book amount                         385,118 

Additions                         410,876 

Amortisation charge (Note 11)                       (174,147)

Closing net book amount                         621,847 

At 31 December 2018

Cost                      1,609,386 

Accumulated amortisation                       (987,539)
Net book amount                         621,847 

21 Other assets

2018 2017

Accounts receivable 953,826                824,730                       

Pre-payments 5,354,084             5,908,649                    

Advance paid to staff 1,048,395             1,134,567                    

7,356,305             7,867,946                    

22 Deposits from customers

2018 2017

Equated monthly installment deposits             74,061,145                    64,844,086 

              8,362,163                      3,591,890 
            82,423,308                    68,435,976 

31                                        

Borrowers deposits

Equated monthly installment deposits are held as contingency to settle the monthly installments in case 

the borrowers fail to pay. Equated monthly installment deposits carry fixed interest rate at 2.5 % per

annum.
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23 Debt securities in issue

2018 2017

Listed and Corporate bonds 104,759,542         36,847,574                  

Listed Sukuk 114,219,795         112,557,364                

218,979,337         149,404,938                

Payable within one year 8,865,375             37,802,938                  

Payable after one year 210,113,962         111,602,000                

218,979,337         149,404,938                

32                                        

Maturity analysis of debt securities in issue

New listed bonds for MVR 100,000,000 were issued in June 2018, out of which, MVR 81,390,000

was raised. These bonds carry an interest rate of 7% per annum for 10 years from the allotment date.

The bonds were allotted in July 2018. Interest payments are made every six months after the date of

allotment, until the bond is fully redeemed and the first payment was made on 31 December 2018.

During the months of March 2018 HDFC issued two corporate bonds for a value of MVR 10,000,000

each with two year maturity. In May 2018 corporate bond with a value of MVR 5,000,000 was rolled

over for one year upon maturity .  These corporate bonds carry an interest rate of 6.5% per annum.

During the month of January 2014, HDFC has issued Mudarabah Sukuk amounting to MVR

22,566,000 at a price of MVR 500 per sukuk for ten (10) years from allotment date and profit is paid

every six months after the date of allotment, until maturity date. The funds are utilized in order to

fund shari'ah compliant mortgage housing finance operations under principles and rules of Shari'ah.

The profit is shared between Sukuk holder (Rabb al Mal) and HDFC (Mudarib) at a rate of 65% and

35% respectively.

On 24 October 2017 HDFC has issued Mudarabah Sukuk No. 2, amounting to MVR 89,036,000

(MVR 1,000 per sukuk for ten (10) years), profit is paid every six months after the date of allotment,

until maturity date. The funds are utilized in order to fund shari'ah compliant mortgage housing

finance operations under principles and rules of Shari'ah. The profit is shared between Sukuk holder

(Rabb al Mal) and HDFC (Mudarib) at a rate of 65% and 35% respectively. 
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24 Other borrowed funds

2018 2017

21,454,736           42,902,920                  

106,475,238         130,035,038                

-                            15,743,280                  

Bank of Ceylon 106,970,084         137,224,408                

Bank of Maldives 74,250,000           89,250,000                  

Habib Bank Limited 46,200,000           61,600,000                  

Wakala facilities 140,217,356         144,028,896                

Pension benefit scheme fund 3,041,482             2,075,827                    

State Bank of India 139,256,754         50,000,145                  

637,865,650         672,860,514                

Payable within one year 170,040,277         204,818,851                

Payable after one year 467,825,373         468,041,663                

637,865,650         672,860,514                

33                                        

Netherlands Development Finance Company (FMO)

Deutsche Investitutions und Entwicklungs Gesellschaft 

MBH (DEG) 

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Maturity analysis of other borrowed funds

Netherlands Development Finance Company (FMO)

During the year 2010, HDFC obtained a term facility of MVR 154,200,000. The borrowings from

FMO carry an interest at LIBOR + 4.25%. The term loan from FMO is repayable in sixteen semi-

annual installments commencing from 15 April 2012 and ending on 15 October 2019. The FMO loan

is secured by all rights of HDFC under any security obtained by HDFC pursuant to the mortgage loans

given by HDFC from the funds disbursed under the FMO loan. The borrowing is denominated in

United States Dollars.

Deutsche Investitutions und Entwicklungs Gesellschaft MBH (DEG) 

During the year 2014, HDFC has obtained a loan of MVR 200,460,000. The borrowings from DEG

carry an interest at LIBOR + 5%. The loan is repayable in seventeen semi-annual installments

commencing from 15 June 2015 and ending on 15 June 2023. The DEG loan is secured by a first

ranking mortgage on HDFC’s mortgage portfolio and charged over the account in the Maldives into

which proceeds of the loan were disbursed and from which housing loans were disbursed. The

borrowing is denominated in United States Dollars.
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24 Other borrowed funds (continued)

34                                        

Term loan from Bank of Maldives

Term loan from HSBC

HDFC obtained a loan of MVR 150,000,000 per the agreement dated 6 February 2013 from HSBC

Maldives Branch for the purpose of financing mortgage housing loan programs as set out in the

agreement dated 28 June 2012 between HDFC and the Government of Maldives. The loan carried an

interest at MTBR + 1.5% per annum and was repaid in ten semi-annual installments commenced from

six months after the first utilisation date. This loan was fully settled in March 2018. The loan was

secured by a guarantee from the Government of Maldives. The borrowing was denominated in

Maldivian Rufiyaa.

Bank of Ceylon - Male' branch

HDFC has obtained a loan facility of MVR 150,000,000 per the agreement dated 15 March 2016 from

Bank of Ceylon for the purpose of providing mortgage housing loans. The loan carries an interest

payable monthly during the grace year at the rate of 1 month treasury bill rate + 2.3% per annum and

second year onwards 6 month treasury bill rate + 2.3% per annum (Floor rate - 5.5% and cap rate -

9.00%). This loan is repayable in semi-annual installments commencing after one year grace period

and ending in March 2022. HDFC shall ensure a minimum 150% security coverage. The borrowing is

denominated in Maldivian Rufiyaa.

HDFC has obtained a loan of MVR 150,000,000 per the agreement dated 3 April 2013 from Bank of

Maldives for the purpose of providing mortgage housing loans. The loan carries an interest at a rate of

8.5% per annum and repayable in monthly instalments commencing from the first utilization date

(November 2013) for 10 years ending on December 2023. The loan is secured by HDFC’s mortgage

portfolio created out of proceeds of this facility. The borrowing is denominated in Maldivian Rufiyaa.

Habib Bank limited (HBL)

HDFC has obtained a loan facility of MVR 77,000,000 per the agreement dated 16 March 2017 from

Habib Bank Limited for the purpose of providing mortgage housing loans. The loan carries an interest

rate of 8% or 1 year T-Bill rate (with NIL spread), which ever is higher. Interest rate is reset semi-

annually (January and July) by taking the 1 year T-Bill rate of the last day of the preceding month (if

the T-Bill rate is on the higher side). Loan is repaid in ten semi-annual installments starting from June

2017 and the interest is paid on monthly basis. HDFC shall ensure a security coverage ratio of at least

150% of the outstanding loan amount. The borrowing is denominated in Maldivian Rufiyaa.
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24 Other borrowed funds (continued)

Wakala facilities

Pension benefit scheme fund

35                                        

During 2012, Maldives Islamic Bank has invested MVR 20,000,000 with HDFC under a Wakalah

arrangement with a profit target of 11.5% for a year at a profit sharing ratio of 35% : 65% between

HDFC and investor respectively. This has been rolled over for the seventh time during 2018 for one

more year. During May 2017, Maldives Islamic bank invested MVR 10,000,000 for one year and this

was rolled over for 2 more years upon Maturity in May 2018. This has a target yield of 7.5%.

During 2015 and 2016 Maldives Hajj Corporation Limited has invested MVR 60,000,000 with HDFC

with a target yield of 10% - 11% per annum with a profit sharing ratio of (30% -35%) : (70% - 65%)

for 5 years. However, the investment amounting MVR 50,000,000 can be withdrawn before five years

with three months prior notice. 

During the year 2017, Bank of Maldives PLC has invested MVR 17,188,262 out of an approved

investment amounting MVR 50,000,000 with profit target of 8% per annum. HDFC has undrawn

borrowing (Wakala) facilities to the extent of MVR 32,811,738 from Bank of Maldives PLC as at the

reporting date.This wakala facility from BML Islamic is for 2 years. The wakala facilities are

denominated in Maldivian Rufiyaa.

In December 2018, Ayady Takaful invested MVR 16,000,000 with HDFC for two years with a profit

sharing ratio of 70% - 30% respectively between the investor and HDFC.

HDFC has signed an MOU with Maldives Pension Administrative Office (MPAO) to establish a

general working arrangement between MPAO and HDFC to facilitate the collateralization of

accumulated Retirement Saving Account (RSA) for the purpose of paying the down payment in

obtaining home finance for the members of MRPS. Under this scheme, eligible applicants will be able

to collateralize the accumulated savings in RSA as down payment for home finance (end user). The

amount that can be collateralized (hereafter referred as “collateralized amount”) as down payment will

be determined by MPAO and disbursed to HDFC. The determination of the eligibility for home

finance and acceptability of collateralized amount will be made and decided by HDFC. Accrued

interest at 4.9% per annum is payable to MPAO semi-annually. Also, the amount received from

MPAO will be repaid over the tenure of the individual loans to the end user semi-annually.

During May 2016 and January 2016, Amana Takaful invested MVR 5,000,000 each with HDFC for

one year with option to renew at a profit sharing ratio of 35% : 65% between HDFC and investor. This

was rolled over for 2 years upon maturity in 2018. Further in October 2018 MVR 5,000,000 was

invested by Amana Takaful with a maturity of two years.
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24 Other borrowed funds (continued)

State Bank of India (SBI)

25 Other liabilities

2018 2017

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - GED fund             64,803,265                    64,184,740 

            19,070,945                    26,627,304 

            34,315,111                    30,143,690 

            59,011,843                                    - 
Insurance premium payable             10,333,607                      9,224,053 

Amounts received from customers in advance               7,991,246                      8,308,628 

Accruals and other liabilities               1,189,971                      2,927,339 

Employees pension contribution                    53,893                           48,321 

Advance for share capital             51,407,100                    51,407,100 

Dividends payable             39,843,879                    35,062,568 
          288,020,860                  227,933,743 

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - GED fund

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - MHI Islamic fund

36                                        

HDFC has obtained a loan of MVR 150,000,000 per the agreement dated 5 October 2017 from SBI for

the purpose of providing mortgage housing loans. The loan carries an interest at a rate of 8% per

annum and repayable in 8 years on semi-annual basis. The SBI loan is secured by HDFC’s mortgage

portfolio created out of proceeds of this facility. As of 31 December 2018, HDFC has fully withdrawn

the loan amount. The borrowing is denominated in Maldivian Rufiyaa.

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - MHI Islamic 

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - MHUD 

Conventional fund

In accordance with the agreement dated 16 February 2014, HDFC manages and administers loan

schemes under which HDFC, as a custodian receives funds from the Ministry of Housing and

Infrastructure (MHI). The purpose of the fund is to construct houses in islands under HDFC Amna's

Islamic outreach program. The initial Islamic Housing Fund approved for this program was MVR

100,000,000 treated as a revolving grant for investment with a profit share of 65% to HDFC and 35%

to the Islamic Housing Finance Scheme Fund.

(i) HDFC was appointed as the sole representative to act on behalf of the Ministry of Housing and

Infrastructure in matters related to the scheme as a collecting agent. HDFC to use their best effort to

obtain monthly instalments due under the Islamic financing facility and all records of collections

should be maintained separately. The accumulated fund after deducting the agency fee shall be

released to the Ministry upon receiving written request from the Ministry.

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - 704 Housing 
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25 Other liabilities (continued)

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - MHUD Conventional fund

Ministry of Housing and Infrastructure - 704- Housing fund

26 Share capital

Number of shares  Ordinary shares              

              1,593,750                  159,375,000 

              1,593,750                  159,375,000 

27 Reserves

2018 2017

General reserve 15,000,000           15,000,000                  

Staff education reserve -                            2,136,480                    

Total reserves at end of the year 15,000,000           17,136,480                  

37                                        

(i) HDFC was appointed as the sole representative to act on behalf of the Ministry of Housing and

Infrastructure in matters related to the scheme as a collecting agent. HDFC to use their best effort to

obtain monthly instalments due under the facility and all records of collections should be maintained

separately. The accumulated fund after deducting the agency fee shall be released to the Ministry upon

receiving written request from the Ministry.

(ii) HDFC has started managing new housing loans / facilities during December 2017. HDFC was

appointed as the sole representative to act on behalf MHI in matters related to the scheme as a

collecting agent. HDFC to use their best effort to obtain monthly instalments due and all records of

collections should be maintained separately. The accumulated fund after deducting the agency fee

shall be released to the Ministry upon receiving written request from the Ministry. This scheme is for

25 years period.

Since 2008, HDFC manages and administers conventional loan scheme under which HDFC, as a

custodian received funds from the Ministry of Housing and Urban Development (MHUD). HDFC

receives a management fee of 1.75% per annum on the outstanding balance of the loan at the end of

every month. 

At 31 December 2017

At 31 December 2018

The total authorized number of ordinary shares as at 31 December 2018 was 3,187,500 (2017:

3,187,500) with a par value of MVR 100 (2017: MVR 100) per share. As at 31 December 2018,

1,593,750 shares were issued, which were fully paid.

HDFC maintained a staff education reserve for the purpose of providing financial assistance for higher

education of HDFC staff members. During the year the reserve was transferred to retained earnings.
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28 Segment Analysis

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

     1,246,980         370,399                     -      1,617,379 

          44,097           47,556                     -           91,654 

                    -                     -             1,946             1,946 

          29,976                     -                     -           29,976 

                    -                     -           10,482           10,482 

Total assets      1,321,053         417,955           12,427      1,751,436 

 38 

31 December 2018

(c) Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

The Board of directors review financial information prepared based on the requirements of

internal reporting. Such financial information differs in certain aspects from International

Financial Reporting Standards:

(i) funds are generally not allocated between segments;

s Conventional financing service – representing conventional housing finance services;

HDFC’s segments are strategic business units that focus on different customers. They are

managed separately because each business unit requires different strategies and service level.

Operating segments are components that engage in business activities that may earn revenues or

incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors, and

for which discrete financial information is available.

(a) Description of products and services from which each reportable segment 

(b) Factors that management used to identify the reportable segments

Other assets

HDFC is organised on the basis of two main business segments:

s Islamic services – representing Amna house related scheme and sukuk and other shari'ah

...compliant services.

Segment information for the reportable segments as at 31 December 2018 and for the year

ended 31 December 2018  is set out below:

(ii) business profit taxes are not allocated to segments;

(iii) loan provisions are recognised based on management judgement and availability of

information, and based on the expected credit loss model prescribed in IFRS 9;

(iv) commission income relating to lending is recognised immediately rather than deferred using

the effective interest method; and

The board of directors evaluate the performance of each segment based on the net income

before administrative expenses and tax.

(d) Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Loans and advances

Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets

Financial assets at amortised cost
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28

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

          62,512           19,911                     -           82,423 

        104,760         114,220                     -         218,979 

        497,648         140,217                     -         637,866 

          93,327           83,874         110,820         288,021 

Current tax liabilities                     -                     -             8,371             8,371 

Total liabilities         758,247         358,223         119,191      1,235,660 

Capital expenditure                     -                     -             1,036             1,036 

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

        141,410           41,203                     -         182,613 

            5,014             2,525                     -             7,539 

            1,101                     -                     -             1,101 

Total revenues         147,524           43,728                     -         191,252 

        (46,302)         (18,644)                     -         (64,945)

            6,692             1,534                     -             8,226 

                    -                     -              (624)              (624)

        (16,456)           (1,191)                     -         (17,647)

                    -                     -         (17,267)         (17,267)

Result           91,458           25,427         (17,891)           98,995 

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

     1,142,796         296,300         (28,581)      1,410,515 

          41,800           26,726                     -           68,526 

                    -                     -             1,607             1,607 

          29,960           67,000                     -           96,960 

                    -                     -           11,319           11,319 

Total assets      1,214,556         390,026         (15,655)      1,588,927 

 39 

Deposits from customers

Debt securities in issue

Segment information for the reportable segments as at 31 December 2017 and for the year

ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Segment Analysis (continued)

(d) Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

External revenues:

- Interest / profit share

- Fee and commission income

- Other operating income

Interest expense / profit share

Reversal of loan impairment

Depreciation and amortisation

Administrative and other operating   

expenses

Business profit tax

Capital expenditure represents additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments

and deferred tax assets.

Other borrowed funds

Other liabilities

Loans and advances

Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets

Financial assets held-to-maturity

Other assets
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28

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

          55,581           12,855                     -           68,436 

          36,848         112,557                     -         149,405 

        528,832         144,029                     -         672,861 

          30,144           90,811         106,978         227,933 

Current tax liabilities                     -                     -             7,813             7,813 

Total liabilities         651,405         360,252         114,791      1,126,448 

Capital expenditure                     -                     -                919                919 

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

        131,235           33,109                     -         164,344 

            3,695             1,790                     -             5,485 

            3,409                     -                     -             3,409 

Total revenues         138,339           34,899                     -         173,238 

In thousands of MVR Conventional Islamic Unallocated Total

Total revenues         138,339           34,899                     -         173,238 

        (41,411)         (12,319)                     -         (53,730)

          (8,461)           (2,115)                     -         (10,576)

                    -                     -              (537)              (537)

        (13,343)           (1,757)                     -         (15,100)

                    -                     -         (12,108)         (12,108)

Result           75,124           18,708         (12,645)           81,187 

29 Financial risk management

 40 

Capital expenditure represents additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments

and deferred tax assets.

Deposits from customers

Debt securities in issue

Other borrowed funds

Other liabilities

Segment Analysis (continued)

(d) Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

HDFC’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the

analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of

risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable

consequence of being in business. HDFC’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance

between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on HDFC’s financial

performance.

External revenues:

- Interest / profit share

- Fee and commission income

- Other operating income

Interest expense / profit share

Provision for loan impairment

Depreciation and amortisation

Administrative and other operating   

expenses

Business profit tax



ANNUAL

REPORT

2 0 1 8

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

29 Financial risk management (continued)

29.1 Credit risk

29.1.1 Credit risk measurement 

Loans and advances ( including loan commitments)

29.1.2 Expected credit loss measurement

41  

HDFC’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of

reliable and up-to-date information systems. HDFC regularly reviews its risk management

policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 

Risk management is carried out by HDFC under policies approved by the Board of Directors.

HDFC identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the HDFC's operating
unit. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written

policies covering specific areas, such as credit risk and liquidity risk. In addition, internal audit

is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment. The

most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk.

Market risk includes currency risk and interest rate risks. 

HDFC takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a

financial loss for HDFC by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is the most important

risk for HDFC’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.

Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities that lead to loans and advances. There is

also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. 

Credit policies were formulated covering HDFC's credit activities and establishment of
individual limits of authority for initiating, reviewing and approving credit.  

A credit Committee comprising the Managing Director, Operations Director, Head of Finance,

Senior Manager Credit, Senior Manager Islamic Finance and Senior Manager IT meets regularly

to discuss credit proposals in line with credit policies. The credit Committee also reviews non-

performing assets, documentation and other credit related issues.

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purpose is complex and requires the use

of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and

the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further

estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default

correlations between counterparties. HDFC measures credit risk using Probability of Default

(PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the approach

used for purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 outlines a 'three-stage' model for impairment based on change in credit quality since
initial recognition as summarised below:
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29.1 Credit risk (continued)

29.1.2 Expected credit loss measurement (continued)

29.1.2.1 Significant increase in credit risk

29.1.2.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets
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• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 'Stage 1'
and has its  credit risk continuously monitored by HDFC.

• If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the
financial instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Please
refer to note 29.1.2.1 for a description of how HDFC determines when a significant increase in
credit risk has occured.

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9:  

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit risk 
since the initial recognition)

(credit impaired assets)

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to 'Stage
3'. Please refer to note 29.1.2.2 description of how HDFC defines credit-impaired and default.

• Financial instruments in stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the proportion
of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12
months. Instruments in Stage 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on
a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 29.1.2.3 for a description of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL.
• A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider
forward-looking information. Note 29.1.2.4 includes an explanation of how HDFC has
incorporated this in its ECL models.

Further explanation is also provided of how HDFC determines appropriate grouping when ECL
is measured on a collective basis ( refer note 29.1.2.5).

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by HDFC in addressing the requirements of the
standard are discussed below:

HDFC considers loans and receivables have experienced significant increase in credit risk when
the arrears are past due for more than 30 days.

HDFC defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of
credit-impaired when the borrower is more than 120 days past due states on its contractual
payments.

12 months expected 
credit losses 

Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses 
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29.1 Credit risk (continued)

29.1.2.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (continued)

43  

29.1.2.3 Measuring the ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation

techniques

LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post default.

Historical LGD is used for facilities outside Male'. Since there were no adequate history of

default in Male' facilities, LGD is computed based on the projected collateral values, historical

discounts to market/ book values to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery cost

observed. When arriving the present value of cash flows after default, HDFC applies 50% and

75% haircut to the market value of the collateral to estimate force sale values for the facilities

less than 12 months in arrears and 24 months in arrears respectively. Force sales values are then

deducted from EAD to arrive LGD.

The default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability of Default (PD),

Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) throughout HDFC’s expected loss

calculations.

90 days default presumption is rebutted considering historical behaviour. Over 120 days is taken

as default considering significant number of facilities that were over 120 days remained in over

120 days bucket. This rebuttal will be monitored and reviewed by credit department on an annual 

basis to ensure it is appropriate.

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or lifetime basis

depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since the initial

recognition on whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are

the discounted product of the Probability of Default(PD), Exposure at Default(EAD), and Loss

Given Default(LGD), defined as follows:

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation ( as per

"Definition of default and credit-impaired" above), either over the next 12 months (12 MN PD),

or over the remaining lifetime (Life time PD ) of the obligation. PIT PD ( Point-in-time

Probablity of Default) is calculated using duration or hazard rate approach (Makov chain

approach) and TTC PD (Through-the-Cycle Probablity of Default) is derived from average

empirical matrix from 2012 to 2017.

EAD is based on the amounts HDFC expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12

months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving

commitment, HDFC includes the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected

to be drawn up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, should it occur.
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29.1 Credit risk (continued)

29.1.2.4 Forward looking information incorporated in ECL models

Sensitivity analysis

44  

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future year and for each

individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and

adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier

month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future year, which is then discounted back to 

the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original

effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The

maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition

throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and 

is assumed to be the same across all assets. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which

varies by the product type. For amortising loans, this is based on the contractual repayments

owed by the borrower over a 12 month or lifetime basis. For the loan commitments, the EAD is

predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding a " credit conversion factor" which allows

for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. 

29.1.2.3 Measuring the ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation

techniques (continued)

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and

lifetime PD, EAD and LGD. Refer note 29.1.2.4 for an explanation of forward-looking

information and its inclusion in ECL calculations. 

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking

information. HDFC has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables

impacting credit risk and expected credit losses for the loan portfolio.

Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are obtained by HDFC

from IMF and trading economic.com. The impact of these economic variables on the PD has

been determined by performing statistical regression analysis to macro economic variable with

credit index. Estimated credit indexes are determined by plugging forcasted macro economic

variables in the factor model developed in the regression analysis. Forcasted PDs are computed

by shifting Through the Cycle (TTC) matrix using estimated credit index.

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2018 that would result from

reasonably possible changes in the parameter from the actual assumption used in HDFC’s

economic variable assumption.
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29.1 Credit risk (continued)

29.1.2.4 Forward looking information incorporated in ECL models (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

-5% No change +5% 

MVR MVR MVR

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018    26,891,804           26,209,891         25,760,901 

29.1.2.5 Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis

29.1.3 Loss allowance

45  

-Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing

significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and

the consequent “step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;  

- Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as

releases for financial instruments de-recognised in the period;

-Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period,

arising from regular refreshing of inputs to models;

-Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;

-Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value

basis;

GDP

For expected credit losses provision modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is

performed on the basis of shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within the group

are homogeneous. Both conventional and Amna assets are pooled together as primarily the

products are same and considering the size of portfolio.

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described

below:

-Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets

that were written off during the period.

The following table explain the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and end of

the annual period due to these factors:
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29.1 Credit risk (continued)

29.1.3 Loss allowance (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Life time ECL Life time ECL Total

5,628,528           15,134,481     13,673,160            34,436,169          

 

(131,658)             1,019,128       -                                             887,470 

(13,833)               -                      485,038                                 471,205 

432,292              (6,374,130)      -                                        (5,941,838)

42,549                -                      (1,406,896)                        (1,364,347)

266,562              22,957            -                                             289,519 

Transfers:

-                          (1,761,006)      4,422,969                           2,661,963 

-                          1,223,473       (3,665,565)                        (2,442,092)

(11,695)               (166,271)         (7,259)                                  (185,225)

Other movements (1,860,457)          (982,783)         240,307                            (2,602,933)

            4,352,288         8,115,849              13,741,754            26,209,891 

46  

Transfer from Stage 1 to 

Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to 

Stage 1

Transfer from Stage 3 to 

Stage 1

New financial assets 

originated

Transfers from stage 2 to 

stage 3

Transfer from stage 3 to 

stage 2

Loans and advances

Loss allowance as at 1 

January 2018

Transfers:

Transfer from Stage 1 to 

Stage 2

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the mortgage

portfolio to help explain their significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same

portfolio as discussed above:

Financial assets settled 

during the year

Loss allowance at 31 

December 2018

The unwind of interest on Stage 3 financial assets is reported within 'Interest income' so that

interest income recognised on the amortised cost ( after deducting the ECL allowance).

Significant changes in gross carrying amount of financial assets that contributed to changes in

the loss allowance were as follows:

Although the high volume of new mortgages loans originated during the period increased the

gross carrying amount of the mortgage book by 14%, there were reductions in stage 2 and stage

3 assets by 33.3% with a corresponding decrease in loss allowance amounting to MVR

8,226,278.
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29.1 Credit risk (continued)

29.1.3 Loss allowance (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL Life time ECL Life time ECL Total

1,177,459,575    203,641,030   57,996,262                  1,439,096,867 

(17,855,063)        17,244,457     -                                           (610,606)

(1,066,662)          -                      1,121,699                                55,037 

-                          (18,055,179)    18,372,293                            317,114 

-                          20,779,728     (22,191,796)                      (1,412,068)

86,885,849         (90,843,561)    -                                        (3,957,712)

3,472,002           -                      (3,836,120)                           (364,118)

(23,005,747)        (4,390,189)      (1,551,986)                      (28,947,922)

237,933,703       173,117          -                                      238,106,820 

5,317,486           (2,678,383)      (1,333,928)                          1,305,175 

     1,469,141,143     125,871,020              48,576,424       1,643,588,587 

29.1.4 Write-off policy

29.1.5 Modification of financial assets

47  

Loans and advances

Gross carrying amount 

as at 1 January 2018

Transfers:

Transfer from Stage 1 to 

Stage 2

New financial assets 

originated

Other movements

Gross carrying amount as 

at 31 December 2018

HDFC writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical

recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that

there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii)

where the HDFC’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is

such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

HDFC sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial

renegotiations with a view to maximising recovery.

Transfer from Stage 1 to 

Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to 

Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 3 to 

Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 2 to 

Stage 1

Transfer from Stage 3 to 

Stage 1

Financial assets settled 

during the year
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29.1.5 Modification of financial assets (continued)

29.1.6 Risk limit control and mitigation policies 

 (a) Collateral 

48  

Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and

payment forgiveness. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria

which, in the judgement of management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These

policies are kept under continuous review.

The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and

compared with the risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is

not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of the original asset. HDFC monitors the

subsequent performance of modified assets. HDFC may determine that the credit risk has

significantly improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 2

(Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL). There was no modification during the year.

HDFC manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified in
particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to corporates. HDFC structures the levels

of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one

borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to corporates. Such risks are monitored on a revolving

basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary.  

Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below. 

HDFC employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of

these is the taking of security for the housing loans, which is a common practice. HDFC

implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk

mitigation. The principal collateral types for housing loans are mortgage over housing unit that is

financed by HDFC. 

HDFC’s policy is to sell the repossessed assets at the earliest possible opportunity and the

HDFC’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the

reporting period. There has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral

held by HDFC since the prior period.

HDFC closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it

becomes more likely that HDFC will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit

losses.
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29.1.6 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)

Staff loans Amna Assets Total

     1,252,647,891         6,613,752            384,326,944       1,643,588,587 

     1,252,647,891         6,613,752            384,326,944       1,643,588,587 

As of 31 December 2017 Staff loans Amna Assets Total

     1,137,133,718         5,663,292            296,299,857       1,439,096,867 

     1,137,133,718         5,663,292            296,299,857       1,439,096,867 

Fair value of 

collateral

Carrying value of 

the assets

Fair value of 

collateral

     1,252,647,891  3,838,618,519                               -                             - 

            6,613,752       17,486,292                               -                             - 

        384,326,944  1,063,706,371 

     1,643,588,587  4,919,811,182                               -                             - 

As of 31 December 2017

Fair value of 

collateral

Carrying value of 

the assets

Fair value of 

collateral

     1,137,133,718  3,483,952,673                               -                             - 

            5,663,292       15,111,892                               -                             - 

        296,299,857     704,644,372 

     1,439,096,867  4,203,708,937                               -                             - 

49  

Loans collaterised by:

- house property

Total loans and 

advances

Customer loans
Loans collaterised by:

- house property

Collateral information

As of 31 December 2018 Customer loans

Customer loans

Staff loans

Amna assets

Total loans and 

advances

Over-collateralised assets Under-collateralised assets

Total loans and 

advances

The financial effect of collateral is presented by disclosing collateral values separately for (i)

those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carrying value

of the asset (over-collateralised assets) and (ii) those assets where collateral and other credit

enhancements are less than the carrying value of the asset (“under-collateralised assets”). The

effect of collateral is as follows:

As of 31 December 

2018

Over-collateralised assets Under-collateralised assets

Carrying value of 

the assets

Carrying value of 

the assets

Customer loans

Staff loans

Amna Assets

Total loans and 

advances
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29.1.6 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)

 (b) Credit-related commitments 

29.1.7 Impairment and provisioning policies 

29.1.8 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 

29.1.9 Loans and advances 

2018 2017

Neither past due nor impaired (less than 30 days)      1,467,845,678    1,175,930,073 

Past due but not impaired (30-60 days)           38,242,556       109,413,873 

Past due but not impaired (60-90 days)           50,990,753         68,397,115 

Past due but not impaired (90-120 days)           32,449,908         27,299,855 

Impaired  (more than 120 days)           54,059,692         58,055,950 

Gross loans and advances      1,643,588,587    1,439,096,867 

Less: allowance for impairment         (26,209,891)       (28,581,369)

Net loans and advances 1,617,378,696 1,410,515,498

50  

Impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes based on expected credit

losses calculated based on historical default rates and forward looking information.

Maximum exposure before collateral equals to the net carrying value of all the assets in the

Statement of financial position except cash and bank balances representing a worse case scenario

of credit risk exposure to HDFC at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, without taking

account of any collateral held. 

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of
credit risk to the HDFC resulting from its loan portfolio and based on the following: 

• All the housing loans are backed by collateral. 

• 89.31 % of the loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired
(31 December 2017: 81.71 %);

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the

form of loans. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, HDFC is potentially

exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount

of loss is negligible than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit

are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards and since generally these

exposures are secured against adequate collateral. HDFC monitors the term to maturity of credit

commitments. 

Loans and advances are summarised as follows: 
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29.1.9 Loans and advances (continued)

Internal 

Ratings

Basis for 

grading (B/A)

Loans to 

customers

Loans to customers Percentage of total 

loans

MVR MVR

A+ 1,467,845,678    1,175,930,073       100.00%

A -                          -                             -                           

A- -                          -                             -                           

B+ -                          -                             -                           

B -                          -                             -                           

C -                          -                             -                           

1,467,845,678    1,175,930,073       100.00%

 Male' Hulhumale' Outer atoll  Total 

Past due 30-60 days               10,923           19,307                    8,012                38,243 

Past due 60-90 days               17,127           29,115                    4,748                50,991 

Past due 90-120 days                 3,311           28,303                       836                32,450 

Total               31,361           76,726                  13,597              121,683 

51  

Percentage of 

total loans

0.2% 100.00%

0.2% to 0.5% -

0.5% to 1% -

Further information of the impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers is

provided in Note 16.

During the period 31 December 2018, HDFC’s total value of loans and advances increased by

14.21% (2017: 8.94%) as a result of new disbursement of the housing loans. In order to

minimise the potential increase of credit risk exposure, the HDFC focused more on lending

house construction loans providing collateral and strong repayment capacity from employment,

other business and rental income. 

(a) Loans neither past due nor impaired

Currently HDFC does maintain an internal credit rating system for loans neither past due or

impaired. Internal rating is calculated by taking total receipts for the period (A) and total late

penalty for the period (B), an arriving at a percentage by dividing B by A, (i.e. B/A). Percentages

are graded as follows; 

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017

100%

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired 

Loans and advances less than 120 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other

information is available to indicate the contrary. Gross amount of loans and advances by areas to

customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows: 

(Amount in MVR '000)

Housing loan

31 December 2018

1% to 1.5% -

1.5% to 2% -

above 2% -
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29.1.9 Loans and advances (continued)

Male' Hulhumale' Outer atoll  Total 

Past due 30-60 days               57,212 45,714          6,488                  109,414            

Past due 60-90 days               22,324 40,046          6,028                  68,397              

Past due 90-120 days                 7,660 17,263          2,376                  27,300              

Total               87,196         103,023                  14,892              205,111 

 Male' Hulhumale'  Outer atoll  Total 

19,627             29,510          4,923                  54,060              

Total 19,627             29,510          4,923                  54,060              

 Male' Hulhumale'  Outer atoll  Total 

19,366             33,261          5,429                  58,056              

Total 19,366             33,261          5,429                  58,056              

29.1.10 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure 

(a) Geographical sectors  

 2018 2017

Residential - Conventional         1,256,098,708       1,139,243,180 

Residential - Islamic            384,326,943          296,299,857 

Commercial                3,162,936              3,553,830 

Grand total         1,643,588,587       1,439,096,867 

52  

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired (continued)

Housing loan 

31 December 2018

Impaired loans

31 December 2017

Impaired loans

HDFC’s lending activities are limited to Maldives.

31 December 2017

Upon initial recognition of housing loan, the cost incurred to construct the house is taken as the

fair value of the mortgaged house.

(c) Loans and advances impaired

The impaired loans and advances to customers is MVR 54,059,692 (as compared to on 31

December 2017 when impaired loans and advances to customers were MVR 58,055,950).

The breakdown of the gross amount of impaired loans and advances by areas are as follows:

(Amount in MVR '000)

(b) Sectors

The following table breaks down HDFC's main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as

categorised by the sectors of our counterparties. 
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29.2

29.2.1

2018 2017

Assets

Cash and balances with other banks 97,915                   147,593               

Total assets 97,915                   147,593               

Liabilities

Borrowings (8,296,367)             (11,215,172)         

Total liabilities (8,296,367)             (11,215,172)         

Net on-balance sheet financial position (8,198,451)             (11,067,579)         

Currency SWAP 8,218,891              11,084,841          

Net  20,440                   17,262                 

53  

Foreign exchange risk 

All the transactions except transactions carried out in local currency, Maldivian Rufiyaa (MVR),

are carried out mainly in United States Dollars (US$) for which exchange rate was pegged.

However, with effect from 10 April 2011, the government declared a managed float of the

currency within a 20% band (1 US$ = MVR 10.28 to MVR 15.42). The Corporation takes on

exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its

financial position and cash flows. The management has set up a policy to manage their foreign

exchange risk against their functional currency, by entering into currency SWAP.

HDFC has borrowed from Netherlands Development Finance Company (FMO) and from

Deutsche Investitutions und Entwicklungs Gesellschaft MBH (DEG) in US$. The proceeds from

these were sold to State Trading Organisation PLC (STO) for equivalent Rufiyaa at 1 US$ =

MVR 15.42. HDFC has entered into three SWAP agreements with STO by which STO will sell

equal amount of US$ to honour the US$ requirement of HDFC at the rate of 1 US$ = MVR

15.42.

By virtue of the SWAP agreements, HDFC will be able to service the US$ loans obtained from

FMO and DEG. As at the reporting date, the outstanding balance in these two borrowings

amounts to US$ 8,296,367 (2017: US$ 11,215,172), against which the amounts of US$ to be

purchased from STO PLC is US$ 8,218,891 (2017: US$ 11,084,841).

The table below summarises HDFC's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the end

of the reporting period.

Market risk 

HDFC takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise
from open positions in interest rate and currency, all of which are exposed to general and

specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as

interest rates, credit spreads and foreign exchange rates.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of HDFC's housing and

cost of funds. The market risks arising from non-trading activities are concentrated in HDFC’s

Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO). 

(Amount in USD)
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29.2.1

Amounts in MVR Impact on 

profit or loss

Impact on 

equity

Impact on 

profit or loss

Impact on 

equity

US Dollar strengthening by 10% 2,044             -                     1,726             -                     

US Dollar weakening by 10% (2,044)           -                     (1,726)           -                     

29.2.2

54     

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
HDFC takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on cash flow risks. Interest margins may
increase / decrease as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The following table presents sensitivities of profit or loss and equity to reasonably possible changes in exchange rates applied at the end of the
reporting period relative to the functional currency of HDFC, with all other variables held constant.

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017

Interest rate risk

The extent of the interest rate risk depends on the value and period of the maturity mismatch between interest bearing assets and liabilities and
the ability and speed of HDFC in re-pricing them. ALCO regularly reviews these gaps to ensure that they are within acceptable norms. HDFC
regularly monitors the market behaviour and products are appropriately re-priced when necessary.

HDFC does not carry a trading portfolio or does not generally invest in stocks or shares other than Government treasury bills, for which
investments are generally less than 3 months and hold to collect. Therefore HDFC is not open to any price fluctuation risks.



A
N
N
U
A
L

R
E
P
O
R
T

2
0

1
8

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT FINANCE CORPORATION PLC

31 December 2018

Notes to the financial statements

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

29.2.2

Up to

1 month

(in MVR '000)
Assets

Cash and balances with banks 44,088           15,000           -                     -                     -                     32,566           91,654           
Financial assets at amortised cost -                     29,976           -                     -                     -                     -                     29,976           

Loans and advances 13,455           30,359           166,764         398,410         1,008,390      -                     1,617,378      

Other assets -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     7,356             7,356             

Total financial assets 57,543           75,335           166,764         398,410         1,008,390      39,922           1,746,364      

Liabilities

Deposits from customers -                     -                     -                     -                     74,061           8,362             82,423           

Debt securities in issue 2,618             1,248             5,000             20,000           190,114         -                     218,979         

Other borrowed funds 1,250             19,470           149,320         436,075         31,750           -                     637,865         

Other liabilities -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     288,021         288,021         

Current tax liabilities -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     8,371             8,371.27        

Total financial 

liabilities 3,868             20,718           154,320         456,075         295,925         304,754         1,235,660      

Total interest repricing gap 53,675           54,617           12,443           (57,665)         712,465         (264,832)       510,704         

55     

Interest rate risk (continued)

The table below summarises HDFC’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes HDFC’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised

by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

Non- interest 

bearing

TotalAs at 31 December 2018 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years
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29.2.2

Up to

1 month

(in MVR '000)

Assets

Cash and balances with banks 41,800           67,000           -                     -                     -                     26,726           135,526         

Financial assets at amortised cost 29,960           -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     29,960           

Loans and advances 10,008           27,101           84,919           329,255         959,232         -                     1,410,515      

Other assets -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     7,868             7,868             

Total financial assets 81,768           94,101           84,919           329,255         959,232         34,594           1,583,869      

Liabilities

Deposits from customers -                     -                     -                     -                     64,844           3,592             68,436           

Debt securities in issue 8,955             18,848           10,000           111,602         -                     -                     149,405         

Other borrowed funds 16,444           45,597           142,777         392,001         76,042           -                     672,861         

Other liabilities -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     227,933         227,933         

Current tax liabilities -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     7,813             7,813             

Total financial liabilities 25,399           64,445           152,777         503,603         140,886         239,338         1,126,448      

Total interest repricing gap 56,369           29,656           (67,858)         (174,348)       818,346         (204,744)       457,421         

30.2.2

56     

Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2017 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Non- interest 

bearing

Total

Additionally, HDFC is confident that it has sufficient interest margins to absorb any adverse impacts due to interest fluctuations on any

unmatched positions. Further HDFC has the option of changing the interest offered to customers per the sanction letters issued to the

customers.

Interest rate risk (continued)
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29.2.2

(in MVR '000)

1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease

Average for the year 7,755             (7,755)           6,622                         (6,622)

29.3

29.3.1

57     

HDFC’s liquidity management process, as carried out within HDFC and monitored by the senior management in HDFC, includes: 

Interest rate risk (continued)

Exposure to Interest rate risk - Loans and advances

Sensitivity Analysis of Net interest income

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that HDFC is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to

replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to
lend.

Liquidity risk management process 

• Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This includes replenishment of funds
as they mature or are borrowed by customers;

• Maintaining a portfolio of deposits with bank and treasury bills that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption
to cash flow; 
• Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal requirements; and 
• Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
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29.3.1

29.3.2

58     

Liquidity risk management process (continued)

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next week and month respectively, as these are key
periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities
and the expected collection date of the financial assets.

HDFC also monitors unmatched medium-term assets, the level and type of undrawn lending commitments and undrawn borrowings.

Funding approach 

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by the ALCO.
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29.3.3

As at 31 December 2018 Upto 1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total Carrying 

amount

(in MVR '000)

Liabilities

Deposits -                     -                     8,362             -                     74,061           82,423           82,423           

Debt securities in issue 2,756             1,475             14,307           78,696           256,727         353,961         218,979         

Other borrowed funds 4,468             23,337           173,670         490,699         34,142           726,316         637,866         

Other liabilities -                     -                     59,413           -                     228,608         288,021         288,021         

Current tax liabilities -                     -                     8,371             -                     -                 8,371             8,371.27        

Total liabilities 7,224             24,812           255,752         569,395         593,538         1,450,722      1,227,289      

Assets

Cash and balances with banks 76,654           15,000           -                     -                     -                     91,654           91,654           

Financial assets at amortised cost -                     29,976           -                     -                     -                     29,976           29,976           

Loans and advances 28,839           61,027           303,097         1,069,349      1,919,623      3,381,935      1,617,378      

Other assets 80                  147                1,553.83        5,575             -                     7,356             7,356             

Total assets 105,572         106,150         304,651         1,074,925      1,919,623      3,510,920      1,746,364      

Net 98,348           81,338           48,899           505,530         1,326,085      2,060,199      519,075         

59     

Non-derivative cash flows 

The table below presents the cash flows payable by HDFC under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the
reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas HDFC manages the inherent liquidity
risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows. 
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29.3.3

As at 31 December 2017 Upto 1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total Carrying 

amount

(in MVR '000)

Liabilities

Deposits -                     -                     3,592             -                     64,844           68,436           68,436           

Debt securities in issue 9,036             19,182           10,208           111,602         -                     150,028         149,405         

Other borrowed funds 19,527           51,711           168,091         465,000         92,437           796,766         672,861         

Other liabilities -                     -                     55,570           -                     172,364         227,934         227,934         

Current tax liability -                     -                     7,813             -                     -                     7,813             7,813             

Total liabilities 28,563           70,893           237,461         576,602         329,645         1,243,164      1,118,636      

Assets

Cash and balances with banks 68,526           67,000           -                     -                     -                     135,526         135,526         

Financial assets at amortised cost 29,960           -                     -                     -                     -                     29,960           29,960           

Loans and advances 16,325           32,651           146,928         783,618         1,959,044      2,938,566      1,410,515      

Other assets -                     825                224                4,330             2,489             7,868             7,868             

Total assets 114,811         100,476         147,152         787,948         1,961,533      3,111,920      1,583,869      

Net 86,248           29,583           (90,309)         211,346         1,631,888      1,868,756      465,233         

60     

Non-derivative cash flows (continued)

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash, deposits with banks, financial asset at

amortised cost and housing loan repayment from customers. HDFC would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by discounting
treasury bills, other investments and utilizing the undrawn borrowing facilities.
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29.4

Capital 2018 2017

159,375,000       159,375,000     

341,400,374       285,967,217     

15,000,000         17,136,480       
515,775,374       462,478,697     

515,775,374       462,478,697     

849,425,314       728,435,996     
849,425,314       728,435,996     

61% 63%

61  

HDFC’s capital as managed by its management comprises of share capital, retained earnings and

reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings and current year earnings.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified
according to the nature of – and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated
with each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A

similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the
more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the composition of capital and the ratios of HDFC for the years

ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. HDFC complied with all of the externally imposed capital

requirements to which they are subjected.

Share capital

Capital management 

HDFC’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the

face of Statement of financial position, are: 

• To comply with the capital requirements set by the lenders; 
• To safeguard HDFC’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 
• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by HDFC’s management,

employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel I Committee, for

supervisory purposes. 

Netherlands Development Finance Company and Deutsche Investitutions und Entwicklungs

Gesellschaft MBH require HDFC to maintain a ratio of total capital to the risk-weighted asset

(the 'Basel ratio') at or above 12%.

Total risk-weighted 

Basel ratio

The changes in the regulatory capital was mainly due to the profit earned during the year ended

31 December 2018. The increase in risk-weighted assets reflects the expansion of the loan
portfolio during year. 

Retained earnings

Reserves 

Total qualifying Capital

Total  capital

Risk-weighted assets

On-balance sheet
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As at 31 December 2018 Amortised cost Total

Financial assets  

Cash and cash equivalents        91,653,575          91,653,575 

       29,976,096          29,976,096 

Loans and advances   1,617,378,696     1,617,378,696 

Total assets   1,739,008,367     1,739,008,367 

Amortised cost Total

Financial liabilities

Debt securities in issue      218,979,337        218,979,337 

Other borrowed funds      637,865,650        637,865,650 

Deposits from customers        82,423,308          82,423,308 

Total liabilities      939,268,295        939,268,295 

As at 31 December 2017 Held-to-

maturity

Loan and 

receivables

Total

Financial assets  

Cash and cash equivalents                     -      135,525,548        135,525,548 

Financial assets held to 

maturity

   29,959,834                         -          29,959,834 

Loans and advances                     -   1,410,515,498     1,410,515,498 

Total assets    29,959,834   1,546,041,046     1,576,000,880 

Other liabilities Total

Financial liabilities

Debt securities in issue      149,404,938        149,404,938 

Other borrowed funds      672,860,514        672,860,514 

Deposits from customers        68,435,976          68,435,976 

Total liabilities      890,701,428        890,701,428 

   62 

31 December 2018

Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis

Financial assets at amortised cost
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31 Fair value of financial instruments

Carrying amount

Assets carried at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 91,653,575           91,653,575           135,525,548         135,525,548            

Financial asset at amortised cost 29,976,096           29,976,096           29,959,834           29,959,834              

1,617,378,696      1,617,378,696      1,410,515,498      1,410,515,498         

1,739,008,367      1,739,008,367      1,576,000,880      1,576,000,880         

Liabilities carried at amortised cost

Deposits from customers 82,423,308           82,423,308           68,435,976           68,435,976              

Debt securities in issue 218,979,337         218,979,337         149,404,938         149,404,938            

Other borrowed funds 637,865,650         637,865,650         672,860,514         672,860,514            

939,268,295         939,268,295         890,701,428         890,701,428            

63 

Loans and advances to customers

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amount shown in the statement of financial position, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2017

Carrying amount Fair value Fair value

As at 31 December 2018
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32 Contingencies

(b)    Contingent assets

33 Commitments

(a)    Capital commitments

(b)    Loan commitments

2018 2017

Undisbursed loans and other facilities 265,061,285         231,385,456                

(c)    Operating lease commitments

2018 2017

Not later than one year 1,032,000             905,000                       

Later than one year and not later than five years 3,683,000             4,320,000                    

More than five years -                            1,905,000                    

              4,715,000                      7,130,000 

34 Related party transactions

Key management compensation

2018 2017

2,543,594             1,027,198                    

35 Events after the reporting period 

64                                        

Executive management salaries

No significant events have occurred since the reporting date, which would require adjustments to, or

disclosure in, the financial statements.

(a)    Contingent liabilities

There were no material contingent liabilities recognized at the reporting date.

There were no material contingent assets recognized at the reporting date.

There were no material capital commitments as at the reporting date.
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